
 

                         

 

 

 

                             

 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

 

 

MARCH 15, 2023 

 

AGENDA PACKET 

 

1



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
AGENDA MARCH 15, 2023 

              
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting Minutes February 15, 2023 – Pages 6-18 
B. Approval of the site plan for 410 Atlantic St – Garage addition – Pages 19-33 
C. Approval of the site plan for 214 Surf Rd – Building addition – Pages 34-41 
D. Approval of the site plan for 210 Second Ave – Cabana accessory structure– Pages 42-51 
E. Approval of the site plan for 320 Avenue A – Garage accessory structure – Pages 52-61 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
A. Second Reading of proposed Ordinance 2023-01 – Landscaping and Trees Section 9A and Fences and 

Walls 7A-53 and 7A-58 – Pages 62-76 
B. Second Reading of proposed Ordinance 2023-02 – Second Kitchens – Pages 77-84 

  
NEW BUSINESS 
A. Consideration of Proclamation recognizing January 2023 as National Human Trafficking Awareness 

and Prevention Month – Page 85 
B. Consideration of Proclamation recognizing April 2023 as Water Conservation Month – Page 86 
C. Consideration of a special event permit application – Pages 87-88 
D. Consideration of the installation of a Clean-Up Station at Ocean Park – Pages 89-90 
E. Consider approving the new contract for Computer Experts – Pages 91-106 
F. Consideration of request for reduction of code enforcement fine CEB 2019-CE-054 – Pages 107-114 

 
STAFF REPORTS 
A. Town Manager Report – Page 115 
B. Building Department Report – Pages 116-120                                                                                                                     
C. Public Works Department Report – Page 121 
D. Police Department Report – Pages 122-127 
E. Fire Department Report – Pages 128-131 
F. Finance Department Report – Pages 132-147 

  
ACTION ITEMS – Pages 148-154 
 

2



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 
MARCH 15, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

AGENDA 
 

The Town Commission will conduct a Regular Town Commission Meeting 
on Wednesday, March 15, 2023, in the Community Center 

to address the items below 
 

 

Commission Members: 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover 
Vice Mayor Joyce D. Barton  
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie 
Commissioner Corey Runte 
Commissioner Marivi Walker 
 
Staff Members: 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger 
Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 
 
 
 

 
Notice: Commission discussion and possible action may occur during any Commissioner Meeting. The following 
sections of the Agenda are always subject to such discussion and possible action without further motion by the 
Commission: Changes to the Agenda, Public Hearings, Old Business, and New Business. 

The public is advised that members of the Town Commission may be in attendance and participate in proceedings 
of the board. Attorney General Opinions (AGO) AGO 91-95, AGO 98-14, AGO 2000-68. 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC 
THAT: In order to appeal any decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the 
proceedings. It will be your responsibility to ensure such a record is made. Such person must provide a method 
for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town does not do so. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing 
special accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town 
Clerk at (321) 724-5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 

3



1. Call to Order – Led by Mayor Hoover 
 

2. Roll Call  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 

4. Public Comments 
After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name 
and address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their 
comments in advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the 
Commission on any topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   
 

5. Approval of the Agenda 
 

6. Consent Agenda 
A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting Minutes February 15, 2023 
B. Approval of the site plan for 410 Atlantic St – Garage addition 
C. Approval of the site plan for 214 Surf Rd – Building addition 
D. Approval of the site plan for 210 Second Ave – Cabana accessory structure 
E. Approval of the site plan for 320 Avenue A – Garage accessory structure  

 
7. Public Hearing 

A. Second reading of proposed Ordinance 2023-01 – Landscaping and Trees Section 
9A and Fences and Walls 7A-53 and 7A-58 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING; APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 

AMENDING CHAPTER 9A REGARDING LANDSCAPING AND TREES; 

SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-4, PERMIT REQUIRED FOR 

CUTTING DOWN TREE; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-5, 

APPLICATION FOR PERMIT; REVIEW OF APPLICATION; SPECIFICALLY 

AMENDING SECTION 9A-6, ON-SITE INSPECTION; SPECIFICALLY 

AMENDING SECTION 9A-7, MINIMUM TREE PLANTINGS; SPECIFICALLY 

AMENDING SECTION 9A-10, EXCEPTIONS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING 

SECTION 9A-12, PENALTY; AMENDING ARTICLE IV, CHAPTER 7A, 

SUPPLEMENTARY DISTRICT REGULATIONS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING 

SECTION 7A-53, FENCES AND WALLS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 

7A-58, VISION CLEARANCE AT CORNERS; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY/INTERPRETATION CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR 

CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES 

AND RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 

PROVIDING AN ADOPTION SCHEDULE. 

 

B. Second reading of proposed Ordinance 2023-02 – Second Kitchens 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING; APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 

AMENDING SECTION 1A-3 TO ADD THE DEFINITION FOR KITCHEN OR 

KITCHEN FACILITY; AMENDING CHAPTER 7A REGARDING SECOND 

4



KITCHENS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-31, SECTION 7A-32, AND 

SECTION 7A-33 TO PERMIT SECOND KITCHENS IN 1-RS, 2-RS, AND 3-RS 

ZONING DISTRICTS; CREATING SECTION 7A-72 TO PROVIDE 

SUPPLEMENTARY DISTRICT REGULATIONS FOR SECOND KITCHENS IN 

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY/INTERPRETATION CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR 

CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES 

AND RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIV 

 
8. Old Business 

 
9. New Business 

A. Consideration of Proclamation recognizing January 2023 as National Human 
Trafficking Awareness and Prevention Month  

B. Consideration of Proclamation recognizing April 2023 as Water Conservation Month 
C. Consideration of a special event permit application 
D. Consideration of the installation of a Clean-Up Station at Ocean Park 
E. Consider approving the new contract for Computer Experts 
F. Consideration of request for reduction of code enforcement fine CEB 2019-CE-054 

 
10. Staff Reports  

A. Town Attorney Report 
B. Town Manager Report  
C. Town Clerk Report  
D. Departmental Reports 

1. Building Department  
2. Code Enforcement  
3. Public Works Department  
4. Police Department  
5. Fire Department  
6. Finance Department  

 
11.    Town Commission Comments   

A. Review of Commission Action Items 
B. General Comments 

 
12.   Adjournment 

5



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

REGULAR TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 
FEBRUARY 15, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

 

MINUTES 

 

Commission Members: 

Mayor Wyatt Hoover 

Vice Mayor Joyce Barton 

Commissioner Sherri Quarrie 

Commissioner Corey Runte 

Commissioner Marivi Walker 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Attorney Cliff Repperger  

Finance Manager Jennifer Kerr 

Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Fire Chief Gavin Brown 

Police Chief Melanie Griswold 

Public Works Director Tom Davis 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6



1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Wyatt Hoover called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

2. Roll Call 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted a roll call 

 

Commission Members Present  Staff Members Present 

Mayor Wyatt Hoover    Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Mayor Joyce Barton    Town Attorney Clifford Repperger 

Commissioner Sherri Quarrie    Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Commissioner Corey Runte   Public Works Foreman Sean Hasner 

Commissioner Marivi Walker   Public Works Director Tom Davis 

       Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Commission Members Absent                         

     

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 

 

Mayor Wyatt Hoover led the Pledge of Allegiance  

 
4. Public Comments 

 
After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name 
and address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their 
comments in advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the 
Commission on any topic(s) related to Town business, not on the Agenda.   
 
 Yabsira Adera 
 US Small Business Administration 
 
Yabsira Adera spoke about disaster assistance for individuals that have been impacted 
by Hurricane Nicole.  The US Small Business Administration provides low-interest 
loans.   
 
 Amy Rickman 
 303 Sunset 
 
Amy Rickman spoke about the preservation, conservation, and improvement of the sea 
dunes at First Ave.  Amy Rickman spoke about being part of DAR and they volunteered 
to maintain the First Ave beach crossover.  Amy asked to place a DAR sign at the First 
Ave beach crossover. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about not being able to vote on it tonight, but it would be 
added as an agenda item next month.    
 

7



 Crystal Cain 
 309 Surf Rd 
 
Crystal Cain spoke about the Adopt an Area program.  The EAB had 50 volunteers last 
weekend to plant sea oats.  March 11th at Old Town Hall there will be a native plant 
sale and oak tree giveaway from 11-3 pm. Spoke about updates and plans for Old Town 
Hall.   
 
 Ali Dennington 
 413 Surf Rd 
 
Ali Dennington spoke about objecting to the entire meeting because she sent in a public 
records request on February 6, 2023, for any records related to the meeting that was 
canceled on February 1, 2023, and she has not received anything yet.  The packet was 
sent to the Commission last Friday, why wasn’t it posted online then?  
 
Town Clerk Amber Brown spoke about the agenda and agenda packet being posted on 
the website and the Town bulletin boards on Friday, February 10, 2023, the same day 
they were sent to the Commission.  Also, the deadline to submit items for the meeting is 
Thursday, February 9, 2023, so she wouldn’t have had all of the documents before that.       
 

5. Approval of the Agenda  
 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton made a motion to approve the agenda as presented; 
Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

6. Consent Agenda   
 

A. Approval of the Regular Town Commission Meeting Minutes January 18, 2023 
B. Approval of the site plan for 921 Oak St – Two-car attached garage 
C. Approval of the site plan for 419 Riverview Ln – Room addition 
D. Approval of the site plan for 404 Colony St – Porch addition  
E. Appointment and reappointment of Board Members 

 Reappointment to the History Center Board 
1. Steven Doles 

 Appointment to the Police Pension Fund Board of Trustees 
1. Robin Petersen  

  
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented; 
Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 

 
7. Public Hearing 

A. Proposed Ordinance 2023-01 – Landscaping and Trees Section 9A 
 

Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about the background information about this proposed 
ordinance. 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger - first reading of Ordinance 2023-01 

8



AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING; APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 

AMENDING CHAPTER 9A REGARDING LANDSCAPING AND TREES; 

SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-4, PERMIT REQUIRED FOR 

CUTTING DOWN TREE; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING AND RENAMING 

SECTION 9A-5, APPLICATION FOR PERMIT; REVIEW OF APPLICATION; 

MINIMUM CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING 

SECTION 9A- 6, ON-SITE INSPECTION;  SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 

9A-7, MINIMUM TREE PLANTINGS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-

10, EXCEPTIONS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A- 12, PENALTY; 

AMENDING ARTICLE IV, CHAPTER 7A, SUPPLEMENTARY DISTRICT 

REGULATIONS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-53, FENCES AND 

WALLS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-58, VISION CLEARANCE 

AT CORNERS; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY/INTERPRETATION CLAUSE; 

PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF 

CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN ADOPTION SCHEDULE. 

 

Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the amendments to the ordinance 
which include the following.   

 Amends Section 9A-4 to require permitting, removal standards, and exempt trees 
posing an unacceptable risk in accordance with Florida Law. 

 Amends Section 9A-5 regarding the number of tree removal plans required. 

 Amends Section 9A-6 to provide dimensions for replacement trees. 

 Amends Section 9A-7 to revise minimum tree plantings for new construction. 

 Amends Section 9A-10 to provide for clarified exemptions in accordance with 
State Law. 

 Amends Section 9A-12 to provide for enhanced penalties for mature tree removal 
without a permit. 

 Amends Section 7A-53 to allow for fences/walls extending beyond the front 
building line on residential lots abutting A1A and Oak Street south of Ocean 
Avenue to be erected to a maximum height of six (6) feet with required plantings 
and corner lot limitations. 

 Amends Section 7A-53 to clarify references to fences and walls. 

 Amends Section 7A-58 to clarify references to fences and walls. 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the Planning and Zoning Board not 
being ready to provide a recommendation and tabled it until their March meeting.  
At the Planning and Zoning Board meeting, they had concerns regarding the two-
for-one tree replacement for new construction which has since been amended to a 
one-to-one requirement, another section was related to the fines for removing a tree 
without a permit being too steep.  The ordinance mirrors what State Statute has 
regarding fines.   
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about a couple of corrections. 
 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton asked if the $5,000.00 fine is per tree. 

9



 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the fine is up to $5,000.00 per tree.  
 
Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about any fines that are collected from this being 
put into a separate fund for beautification. 
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie asked about the process in section 9A-4 permit 
required for cutting down a tree. 
 
Further discussion ensued 
 
Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about three scenarios that would not require a 
permit which are unsafe conditions, unhealthy trees, and invasive trees. 
 
Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about a permit not being required for trees 
that pose an unacceptable risk. 
 
 Jim Simmons 
 409 Avenue B 
 
Jim Simmons spoke about the last sentence in section 94-A should be changed to 
say any tree which poses an unacceptable risk may qualify for removal without a 
Town permit.  Don’t tell them they can, tell them they may qualify.  9A-6b1a who 
determines if it unreasonably restricts. 9A-7c who determines similar species.  The 
last thing regarding fences is to make sure when gates are put in that there is 
enough space to get off the road while the gate opens. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about changing 94-A to reverse the sentence structure to 
say a tree that poses an unacceptable risk may qualify.  Regarding 9A-6b1A how can 
unreasonably restricts be changed so it is not so subjective 
 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton spoke about section 9A-6b1A removing unreasonably 
restricts. 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about reworking that language. 
 
Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about adding a section that states if the removal 
of any tree or shrub causes the number of remaining trees and shrubs to fall below 
the minimum number required a replacement tree or shrub shall be planted within 
thirty days of removal to section 9A-6.  
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie spoke about being okay with the Florida Statute fines 
in 9A-12 to allow the Special Magistrate the ability to determine the fine amount.  
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about double-checking to make sure the Code has a 
section that requires gates to be set back to allow vehicles to get off A1A.   
 
Further discussion ensued  
 

10



 Dan Harper  
 418 Avenue B 
 
Dan Harper spoke about several reasons why 9A-7c should not be included.  
Doubling tree density is not practical. Maintaining the same density pre and post-
construction is reasonable.  Tree density should be defined in the definitions.  The 
$5,000.00 fine is excessive. 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the doubling tree density concern is 
related to the proposed ordinance when it went to the Planning and Zoning Board 
but was amended before it came to the Town Commission.  Will look into the 
definition of tree density to see if that needs to be included     
    
 Ali Dennington 
 413 Surf Rd  
 
Ali Dennington spoke about objecting because she has not had enough time, she 
made public records requests and Amber has had the records, Amber’s lying, what 
Amber said is not true.  The notice for this meeting for these ordinances is defective.  
There was ex parte communication that was not disclosed.  The Planning and 
Zoning Board has not recommended this yet.  Where is the report with the findings 
that this is in compliance with the comprehensive plan.  There was mention of an 
agenda report; what’s that and where is it.  This is horrible who wrote it.  Does not 
oppose it in theory, but rushing it through like this is so bad.  
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the ordinance’s full title was 
advertised in Florida Today for the Planning and Zoning Board and has been out for 
weeks and available to the public for that meeting last week.  The first reading is not 
required to be noticed, but we over notice by doing a first public notice for planning 
and Zoning and the Commission meeting and then we will do a second notice for 
planning and Zoning and the Commission meeting in the newspaper.  As far as the 
ex parte communication, this is not a quasi-judicial proceeding.  This is a legislative 
proceeding and you are free to talk to whomever you want to. 
 

Vice Mayor Joyce Barton moved to pass the first reading of Ordinance 2023-01 
Landscaping and Trees Section 9A with the points discussed; Commissioner 
Corey Runte seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 

 

B. Proposed Ordinance 2023-02 – Second Kitchens 
 

Town Attorney Clifford Repperger – first reading of Ordinance 2023-02 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, BREVARD 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING; APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE; 

AMENDING SECTION 1A-3 TO ADD THE DEFINITION FOR KITCHEN OR 

KITCHEN FACILITY; AMENDING CHAPTER 7A REGARDING SECOND 

KITCHENS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-31, SECTION 7A-32, AND 

SECTION 7A-33 TO PERMIT SECOND KITCHENS IN 1-RS, 2-RS, AND 3-RS 

ZONING DISTRICTS; CREATING SECTION 7A-72 TO PROVIDE 

11



SUPPLEMENTARY DISTRICT REGULATIONS FOR SECOND KITCHENS IN 

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS; PROVIDING A 

SEVERABILITY/INTERPRETATION CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR 

CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES 

AND RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 

PROVIDING AN ADOPTION SCHEDULE. 

 

Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the amendments to the ordinance 
which include the following.   

 Amends Section 1A-3 to add a definition for “kitchen” or “kitchen Facility” which 
excludes outdoor barbeque areas without a range or stove. 

 Amends Section 7A-31 to cite appropriate supplementary regulations. 

 Amends Section 7A-32 to cite appropriate supplementary regulations. 

 Amends Section 7A-33 to cite appropriate supplementary regulations. 

 Creates Section 7A-72 to allow for second kitchens in 1-RS, 2-RS, and 3-RS zoning 
districts with permitting and regulatory conditions. 

 

Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about this ordinance going to Planning and 
Zoning which they recommended by a 4-1 vote.  Since the Planning and Zoning 
meeting there has been an amendment to 7A-72(1) to read the second kitchen facility 
and the area or quarters it serves shall be integrated architecturally into the principal 
single-family dwelling unit or may be located within separate quarters connected to 
the principal single-family dwelling unit or may be located within separate quarters 
connected to the principal single-family dwelling unit by a common wall or common 
roof.  For purposes of this Section, a breezeway connected between the principal 
single-family dwelling unit structure and the separate quarters served by the second 
kitchen may constitute a common roof.  Access to the second kitchen shall be as 
required by the Florida Building Code. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about the history of and discussions regarding this 
ordinance change. 
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie spoke about not being in favor of allowing second 
kitchens in detached accessory structures, so she likes the rewrite to Section 7A-72(1) 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about not wanting to explore allowing kitchens in 
detached structures so he is happy with this ordinance. 
 
Commissioner Corey Runte, Commissioner Marivi Walker, and Commissioner 
Sherri Quarrie agreed. 
 
 Dan Harper 
 418 Avenue B 
 
Dan Harper spoke about section 7A-72(1) which allows for an internal and external 
entrance.  Asked to get opinion letters from Town Council and Town Planner that 
allowing the exterior access would not turn it into multifamily.  
 

12



Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about Mr. Harper’s feedback is about the 
previous revision of the ordinance.  The language of the newest revision does not 
have the language related to the external entrance.  Town Attorney Clifford 
Repperger did speak with the Town Planner Corey O’Gorman who did not feel that 
the allowance of a restricted separate guest cottage would convert a property from a 
single-family use as it is zoned to multifamily because of the restrictions such as size 
and location.  We are not proposing detached only attached separate quarters, so 
there is no concern about it becoming multifamily.     
 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton asked if the guest cottage would still need to be attached by 
a roof line. 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about currently you can have separate 
living quarters that are attached by a roof line or common wall you just cannot have 
a second kitchen.  This section would allow you to have a second kitchen, but you 
would still have to maintain the attached roof line or common wall.  The other 
consideration related to the multifamily concern is that you would still be required 
to have and maintain the homestead exemption on it.   
 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton thought it would be a good idea to get a memo from Corey 
O’Gorman.  
 
 Jim Simmons 
 409 Avenue B 
 
Jim Simmons spoke about the County is supposed to be looking at and monitoring 
properties that are being rented out that have the homestead exemption.   
 
Further discussion ensued   
 

Vice Mayor Joyce Barton moved to pass the first reading of the proposed 
Ordinance 2023-02 for second kitchens; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; 
Motion carried 5-0. 

 
8. Old Business  

 
9. New Business 

 
A. Consideration of updates to the Town Boards 

 
Town Clerk Amber Brown spoke about this agenda item is to start a discussion on 
updates to the boards.  The first item is discussing the status of the Historical 
Preservation and Awareness Board because the Board’s status was previously 
discussed and put in a probationary status.  The second item is to consider changing 
the term lengths for the Environmental Advisory Board (EAB), History Center Board 
(HCB), Historical Preservation and Awareness Board (HPAB), and Parks Board from 
two-year terms to three-year terms which would be consistent with the Planning and 
Zoning Board and Board of Adjustment.  The third item is to consider allowing non-
residents as board members for the EAB, HCB, and HPAB.  The fourth item is to 

13



consider increasing the number of members on the EAB, HCB, HPAB, and Parks 
Board to seven members plus two alternates. The last item is to consider allowing 
the HCB to change their meeting date and time from the first Thursday at 5:30 pm 
to the first Wednesday at 5:00 pm.  
 
Further discussion ensued 
 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton spoke about being in favor of making the HPAB an official 
Board. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about moving forward with a draft resolution. 
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie spoke about changing the name of the HPAB to include 
Ryckman House. 

 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton moved to change the term lengths for the mentioned 
boards to three-year terms; Commissioner Marivi Walker seconded; Motion 
carried 5-0. 
 
  Ali Dennington  
  413 Surf Rd 
 

Ali Dennington spoke about consistency and simplicity is a good idea.  Would like 
to ask if HPAB is an actual board right now since resolution 2021-03 was never 
passed.  Was this board disbanded and still meeting as the board anyway.   

 
  Crystal Cain 
  309 Surf Rd 
 

Crystal Cain spoke about clarifying what the HCB does and the HPAB. The HCB is 
just the museum whereas the HPAB is everything else in Town.   

 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton spoke about allowing a limited number of non-residents on 
a Board.  
 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about there being very knowledgeable 
people who are interested in being on our boards, but they do not live in Town. 
 
Commissioner Corey Runte spoke about allowing a limited number of non-residents 
on the boards to take advantage of their passion and expertise. 
 
Commissioner Sherrie Quarrie spoke about being in favor of it except for on the 
Board of Adjustment and Planning and Zoning Board. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about combining the non-resident item with the number 
of board members excluding the Board of Adjustment, Planning and Zoning, and 
Police Pension Fund the other Boards will be allowed to have seven members and 
two alternates of which two can be non-residents. 

 

14



  Ali Dennington 
  413 Surf Rd 
 

Ali Dennington asked what Mr. Runte thinks about this because he was not a 
resident.  What happens if someone lies about their address to get on a board?  You 
have procedural rules about not interrupting people.  If you have a hard time 
getting people why not have a closing time for residents to apply and then after that 
allow non-residents to apply.  Have a rule to fill any open positions with a resident 
first.  The Charter says you have to be a resident to be on the Commission and 
believes it says that for all of the Boards as well, so the Charter would need to be 
amended.  You should not have non-residents if a resident is interested. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about the Commission having to approve each 
application.    
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger read the Town Charter section 3.12 Advisory 
Boards which states “such boards shall be composed of a representative membership 
of registered electors of the Town. 
 
Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about not addressing the non-resident issue. 

 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton moved to approve the number of board members for the 
specified boards to be seven members and two alternates; Commissioner Corey 
Runte seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

Mayor Wyatt Hoover spoke about the last issue is allowing the HCB to change the 
meeting date and time from the first Thursday at 5:30 pm to the first Wednesday at 
5:00 pm. 
 

Vice Mayor Joyce Barton moved to change the meeting date for the History Center 
Board to the first Wednesday at 5:00 pm; Commissioner Marivi Walker 
seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

B. Consideration of restoring the dolphin tree in Ryckman Park 
 

Public Works Director Tom Davis introduced Phil Bryan who is the artist who 
originally carved the dolphin tree. 
 
Phil Bryan spoke about the history of the dolphin tree and what he would like to do 
to restore it. 
 
Further discussion ensued 
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie spoke about keeping it as part of the park and not 
closing it off from people being able to access it. 
 
 Ali Dennington 
 413 Surf Rd 
 

15



Ali Dennington said thank you to Tom for tracking the artist down.  She doesn’t like 
the idea of blocking the tree off from the public, but maybe add a bench near it to 
allow people to sit and take pictures.  Post a plaque with the history of it and ask 
that people don’t climb on it.  It could be the Town mascot and you could have 
Gemini students come up with a name for it.  
 

Vice Mayor Joyce Barton made a motion to move forward with restoring the 
dolphin tree not to exceed $4,000.00; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; 
Motion carried 5-0. 

 
10. Staff Reports  

 
A. Town Attorney Report 

 
No additions 

 
B. Town Manager Report  

 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about submitting fifty stormwater projects 
into the State System, Parks Board has fifty booths signed up for the kid’s 
entrepreneur fair, Friends of the Melbourne Beach Library would like to sponsor a 
book box in Ryckman Park with kid’s books at no cost to the Town, and the 5k on 
Founder’s Day is not going to work out.  The person that was going to coordinate it 
wanted it to be a dessert run so we could not come to an agreement.  Another group 
wanted to do a moonlight run the night before Founder’s Day which would not 
work due to staffing but they will be looking into doing it on the Spessard Holland 
Golf Course.  The Town is looking into doing a fun obstacle course on the beach on 
the morning of Founder’s Day.      

 
C. Town Clerk Report  

 
No additions 

 
D. Departmental Reports 

 
1. Building Department 

 
Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about not having any new homes or 
stop-work orders.  There are a lot of renovations going on right now.   
 

2. Code Enforcement  
 
No additions 

 
3. Public Works Department  

 
Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about updates on projects and 
introduced Sean Hasner the Public Works Foreman.   

 

16



4. Police Department  
 

No additions 
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie spoke about the large increase in police 
department calls from the previous month. 

 
5. Fire Department  

 
No additions 

 
6. Finance Department  

 
Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about a couple of overages such as 
salaries during hurricanes which get reimbursed from FEMA, the second area is 
tree removal, and the communication budget for the police dispatch was 
$500.00 more than what was estimated.  Looking into the building department 
and where some items are being put to make sure they are put in the correct line 
item.    
 
 Ali Dennington   
 413 Surf Rd 
 
Ali Dennington spoke about the Town rules which say during public comment 
she can ask anyone questions and they are supposed to answer, and if they don’t 
know the answer they are supposed to say they will look it up and get back to 
you.  Ali Dennington spoke about not accounting for the revenues properly for 
the building department and having to do corrected W2s for the already 
corrected W2s.  She asked what the process is for selling old Town vehicles.  She 
heard the Town bought the vehicle the building official drives around town from 
his daughter which is a huge conflict of interest.  Why did Tom resign, why did 
Robert Schaefer resign. 
 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie spoke about being allowed to take money from one 
line item within a department to cover another line item within the same 
department. 

 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton made a motion to approve the finance report as 
presented; Commissioner Corey Runte seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

11. Town Commission Comments   
 

A. Review of Commission Action Item List  
 

Updated 

 Town Newsletter – Get 3 quotes for publishing and mailing every other 

month on 11x17 in color - March  

 

17



 Sixth Ave Boat Ramp: Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about 
meeting with Bowman Engineering at the Sixth Ave boat ramp to get them to 
draw something up – March 
 

 Second Kitchens: Closed 
 

 Isolate Dunes: Public Works Director Tom Davis spoke about a resident 
contacting DEP and due to turtles the wood fencing had to be removed, so 
colored rope is being installed instead– March 

 
B. General Comments 

 
Vice Mayor Joyce Barton spoke about changing the order of the agenda such as 
staff reports towards the beginning so employees do not have to stay for the whole 
meeting, and general public comment towards the end so it doesn’t set the tone for 
the meeting.   
 

New Action Item – Address the order of the agenda for Town Commission Meetings- Town 
Clerk - March 

 
12. Adjournment 

 
Commissioner Sherri Quarrie moved to adjourn; Commissioner Corey Runte 

seconded; Motion carried 4-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 9:34 p.m. 

             

       ATTEST: 

 

______________________  _________________________ 

Wyatt Hoover, Mayor    Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



Town Commission Agenda Item 
Section: Public Hearing 

Meeting Date:  March 15, 2023 

Subject:  Proposed Ordinance 2023-01 (Landscaping and Trees Section 9A and 
Fences and Walls 7A-53 and 7A-58) 

 
Submitted By:  Town Attorney Repperger 

Background Information: 
 
On June 15, 2022, the Town Commission directed that Town Staff develop an Ordinance 
improving regulation regarding landscaping and trees.   
 
On February 7, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Board/LPA continued its consideration 
of the proposed ordinance to March 7, 2023. 
 
On February 15, 2023 the Town Commission passed Ordinance No. 2023-01 on First 
Reading. 
 
On March 7, 2023 the Planning and Zoning Board/LPA recommended approval of 
Ordinance No. 2023-01 with changes as discussed below. 
 
Summary of Proposed Ordinance Amendments: 
 
• Amends Section 9A-4 to require permitting, removal standards, and exempt trees 

posing and unacceptable risk in accordance with Florida Law.  
 
• Amends Section 9A-5 to regarding number of tree removal plans required.  

 
• Amends Section 9A-6 to provide for dimensions for replacement trees and 

justification for removal permits.  
 
• Amends Section 9A-7 to revise minimum tree plantings for new construction and to 

add maintenance and replacement requirements. 
 
• Amends Section 9A-10 to provide for clarified exemptions in accordance with State 

Law. 
 
• Amends Section 9A-12 to provide for enhanced penalties for mature tree removal 

without a permit. 
 
• Amends Section 7A-53 to allow for fences/walls extending beyond the front building 

62



line on residential lots abutting A1A and Oak Street south of Ocean Avenue to be 
erected to a maximum height of six (6) feet with required plantings and corner lot 
limitations.  

 
• Amends Section 7A-53 to clarify references to fences and walls.  

 
• Amends Section 7A-53 to add entrance gate standards. 

 
• Amends Section 7A-58 to clarify references to fences and walls.  

 
• Edits to the proposed Ordinance made after first reading are reflected in yellow 

highlight. 
 
Planning and Zoning Board Recommendations: 
 
On March 7, 2023 the Planning and Zoning Board/LPA recommended approval of 
Ordinance No. 2023-01 with the following changes: 
 
• Amend proposed Section 9A-7 (c) to remove the sentence, “Any trees that are 

removed for new construction shall be replaced by the same or similar species.” 
 

• Amend the Ordinance to include an amendment to Section 1A-3 which would provide 
a definition of “Tree Density”  based on the measure of trees per square foot of a lot’s 
pervious area.  A sample definition and illustration provided by Planning and Zoning 
Board alternate member Dan Harper is included as part of this Agenda item. 

 
• Amend proposed Section 9A-12, Penalty, to remove the phase “or similar trees.” 

 
• The Planning and Zoning Board also recommended that the Town Commission 

consider amending Section 7A-53 (9) to require the last 25 feet of any fences or walls 
abutting waterfront or beach to be reduced in height from six (6) feet to four (4) feet to 
protect neighboring riparian site lines.  The proposal was suggested by Planning and 
Zoning Board member Doug Hilmes, but was not part of the initial directive of the Town 
Commission.  Upon Town Staff’s consideration of this issue, Town Staff believes that 
the suggested change would not be appropriate for consideration within Section 7A-
53 (9), which has a limited application, but rather, would require a wholesale change 
to Section 7A-53 (2) a and b to have the desired effect on all waterfront and beachfront 
lots.  The potential consequence of the suggested change would likely render a large 
number of fences erected on waterfront or beachfront lots as non-conforming.  Should 
the Town Commission desire to consider implementing the suggested change, Town 
Staff requests additional time to further evaluate the practical effect of the suggested 
change and proposes to bring the suggested change back as a separate ordinance 
and not part of 2023-01.         

 

63



Attachments: 

•  Draft Ordinance 2023-01. 
•  Suggested Tree Density Definition Dan Harper  

64



 
1 

 

   ORDINANCE NO. 2023-01 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING; 
APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES 
OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE; AMENDING CHAPTER 9A REGARDING 
LANDSCAPING AND TREES; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING 
SECTION 9A-4, PERMIT REQUIRED FOR CUTTING 
DOWN TREE; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-
5, APPLICATION FOR PERMIT; REVIEW OF 
APPLICATION; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 
9A-6, ON-SITE INSPECTION; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING 
SECTION 9A-7, MINIMUM TREE PLANTINGS; 
SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-10, 
EXCEPTIONS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 9A-
12, PENALTY; AMENDING ARTICLE IV, CHAPTER 7A, 
SUPPLEMENTARY DISTRICT REGULATIONS; 
SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-53, FENCES 
AND WALLS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-
58, VISION CLEARANCE AT CORNERS;  PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY/INTERPRETATION CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND 
RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; 
AND PROVIDING AN ADOPTION SCHEDULE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach desires to amend the Land Development Code 

of the Town of Melbourne Beach regarding Landscaping and Trees and Fences and Walls within 
the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, after duly noticed 

public hearings, has determined that the amendments various sections of Chapter 9A  and Sections 
7A-53 and 7A-58 of the Land Development Code proposed in this Ordinance will provide for the 
improved regulation of required Landscaping and Trees and Fences and Walls in the Town of 
Melbourne Beach; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, after duly noticed 

public hearings, has determined that the amendments to various sections of Chapter 9A and 
Sections 7A-53 and 7A-58 of the Land Development Code proposed in this Ordinance are 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, are in the best interests of its citizens of the Town of 
Melbourne Beach, and promote the general health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town 
of Melbourne Beach; and 
 

WHEREAS, on March 7, 2023 the Planning and Zoning Board/Local Planning Agency 
(collectively the “LPA”) at a duly noticed public hearing, reviewed and considered the proposed 

65



 
2 

 

amendments to Chapter 9A and Sections 7A-53 and 7A-58 of the Land Development Code and 
took public comment regarding the same; and 

 
WHEREAS, the LPA has determined that the proposed amendments to Chapter 9A and 

Sections 7A-53 and 7A-58 of the Land Development Code are consistent with the Town’s 
Comprehensive Plan and are in the best interest of the Town of Melbourne and has recommended 
that the Town Commission approve of the same. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, FLORIDA: 
 

SECTION 1.  That Article I, Chapter 9A, of Appendix “A,” of the Town Code of the Town 

of Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby amended to read as follows:  

*  *  * 

§9A-4.  PERMIT REQUIRED FOR CUTTING DOWN TREE. 

No person, organization, society, association or corporation, or any agent or representative 
thereof, directly or indirectly, shall cut down, destroy, remove, move or effectively destroy through 
damaging any tree situated on property in any zoning district without first obtaining a permit as 
herein provided.  Tree removal on any property in any zoning district shall be in accordance with 
the standards mandated in the most recent edition of the Best Management Practices - Tree Risk 
Assessment published by the International Society of Arboriculture or a certification from an 
arborist certified by the International Society of Arboriculture or a Florida licensed landscape 
architect as to substantial compliance with such standards.  Any tree which poses an unacceptable 
risk may qualify for removal without a permit pursuant to Fla. Stat. Sec. 163.045 or as such section 
may be amended.   
 
§9A-5.  APPLICATION FOR PERMIT; REVIEW OF APPLICATION. 
 

(a)   Application. Permits for removal, relocation, or replacement of trees covered herein, 
shall be obtained by making application for a permit to the Building Official. The application shall 
be accompanied by a written statement indicating the reason for removal, relocation, or 
replacement of trees and four two copies of a legible site plan drawn to a minimum scale of one 
inch equals 20 feet, indicating the following: 

 
(1)   Location of all existing or proposed structures, improvements, and sites used, properly 
dimensioned and referenced to property lines, setback, and yard requirements; 
 
(2)   Location of existing or proposed utility services, when known; 
 
(3)   The location of all trees on the site designating the trees to be retained, removed, 

relocated, or replaced.  Groups of trees in close proximity  may be designated as clumps of trees 
with the predominant type and estimated number and average diameter noted. Only those trees to 
be removed, relocated, or replaced must be named (common or botanical name) on the site plan; 

66



 
3 

 

 
(4)   The tree information required above shall be summarized in legend form on the plan 

and shall include the reason for the proposed removal, relocation, or replacement; and 
 
(5)   An application involving developed properties may be based on drawings showing 

only  that portion of the site directly involved, and adjacent structures and landscaping or natural 
growth incidental thereto. 
 

(b)   Application review.  Upon receipt of a proper application, the Building Official shall 
review the application, which will include a field check of the site and referral of the application 
to others concerned as necessary, to determine any adverse effect upon the general public welfare, 
adjacent properties, or Town services and facilities. 

 
§9A-6.  ON-SITE INSPECTION. 
 

(a)   On-site inspection. Prior to the issuance of a permit for tree removal or relocation, the 
Building Official or his agent shall conduct an on-site inspection to determine whether or not such 
a removal or relocation conforms to the requirements of this chapter. 

 
(b)   Issuance. 
 

(1)   Removal. No permit shall be issued for tree removal unless one of the 
following conditions exists: 

 
a.   The tree is located in a buildable area or yard where a structure or improvements 

may be placed and it where inability to remove the tree would unreasonably restricts the 
permitted use of the property and the tree removal has been authorized by the Town as part 
of a site plan review; 

 
b.   The tree cannot be relocated on or off the site because of age, type, or size of 

tree; 
c.   The tree is diseased, dead, injured, in danger of falling, too close to existing or 

proposed structures, interferes with utility service, creates unsafe vision clearance, or 
conflicts with other ordinances or regulations; or 

 
d.   It is in the welfare of the general public that the tree be removed for a reason 

other than set forth above. 
 

(2)   Relocation or replacement.  As a condition to the granting of a permit, the 
applicant may be required, where practical, to relocate the tree being removed or be 
required to replace the tree being removed with a tree somewhere within the site of the type 
that will attain an overall height of at least 15 twelve feet (12’) and have a trunk caliper of 
at least two inches (2”) at planting, measured six inches four and one half  feet (4.5’) above 
grade. The green areas left after all building and parking lot requirements have been met 
shall contain a tree density equal to or greater than that existing on the overall site before 
the beginning of construction. 

67



 
4 

 

 
 
§9A-7.  MINIMUM TREE PLANTINGS. 
 

(a)   Trees in residential zoning districts.  A minimum of three trees must exist or must be 
planted on each newly developed residential lot. Trees planted must be of a variety which is 
compatible with the existing soil and drainage-conditions and must be provided with adequate 
water and food materials to encourage growth. Trees shall be planted in locations so as not to cause 
danger to nor interference with existing structures at the time of maturity. 

 
(b)   Buffer and tree planting requirements for all non-residential and multiple family 

residential uses. 
 
(1)   A landscape buffer with a minimum of ten feet in width shall be provided between 
any residentially zoned property and a property utilized for a non-residential or multiple 
family residential use. Responsibility for providing a landscape buffer shall be upon the 
nonresidential or multifamily use. The landscape buffer shall include a minimum of one 
canopy tree for every 40 linear feet, or fraction thereof.  In addition one ornamental tree or 
palm shall be planted for each 50 linear feet, or fraction thereof. 
 
(2)   A landscape buffer with a minimum of ten feet in width shall be provided along all 
road frontage of the site.  The landscape buffer shall include a minimum of one canopy tree 
for every 25 feet of frontage, or fraction thereof. 
 
(3)   A continuous hedge shall be planted in all perimeter landscape buffer areas. 
 
(4)   Parking areas shall be designed so that there is a minimum of 200 square feet of open 
space, not including perimeter landscape buffer areas, at the end of each row of parking.  
In addition a minimum of 200 square feet of open space shall be provided in the interior of 
the parking lot for each ten parking spaces, or fraction thereof.  These open spaces shall be 
distributed throughout the parking lot in a manner that no more than ten parking spaces in 
a row shall be allowed without an intervening landscaped area. 
 
(5)   Minimum specifications for trees and hedge material shall be as follows: 
 

a.   Canopy trees at the time of planting shall have a trunk diameter of two inches 
measured four and one-half feet above the ground grade.  The trees shall be a minimum of 
eight feet in height and have a minimum spread of five feet. The trees are not required to 
be spaced evenly along property lines. 

 
         b.   Ornamental trees at the time of planting shall have a trunk diameter of one and 
one-half inches measured four and one-half feet above the ground grade.  The trees shall 
be a minimum of six feet in height and have a minimum spread of four feet. 
 
         c.   Palms at the time of planting shall have a minimum clear trunk of eight feet. 
 

68



 
5 

 

         d.   Hedge material at the time of planting shall be a minimum of 18 inches in height 
when planted.  Individual plants shall be planted a maximum of 24 inches on center. 
 
(6)   All plant material shall be Florida Number 1 in quality and shall be planted according 
to sound landscape installation standards. 
 
(7)   All landscaping shall be maintained to present a neat and orderly appearance.  Dead, 
deteriorating or missing landscape material shall be replaced with substantially equivalent 
landscaping as permitted by the Land Development Code.  Replacement of landscaping 
material shall occur within 60 days, unless said time is extended by the Town Manager for 
good cause shown. 
 
(8)   Exceptions shall be considered on an individual basis when obstacles such as overhead 
power lines or other conditions inhibit the ability to comply. 
 
(9)   Canopy trees shall be those that develop a crown spread of 25 feet or greater at 
maturity.  Trees with less than 25 feet of crown spread at maturity shall be considered 
ornamental trees. 
 
(10)    Clusters of three palms shall be an acceptable substitute for up to 50% of the required 
canopy trees and 50% of the required ornamental trees. 
 
(11)   Landscape material should be drought tolerant to the extent practical and feasible. A 
water source shall be available to ensure the plant material can be watered while it is being 
established and during drought occurrence. Automatic irrigation systems may be utilized. 
 
(12)   Currently developed sites that do not meet the landscape requirements will not be 
considered non-conforming. Landscaping consistent with the regulations shall be installed 
at these sites, to the extent practical, as redevelopment occurs. Unless complete 
reconstruction or rehabilitation that results in closure of a building or buildings for a period 
of over six months occurs, full compliance with this section shall not be required. 

 
(c)     Minimum replacement standards for new construction.  Any trees that are removed 

for new construction shall be replaced by the same or similar species.  Specifically for mature oak 
trees, replacement of one (1) similar species for each tree removed shall be required which at a 
minimum will attain an overall height of at least twelve feet (12’) and have a trunk caliper of at 
least two inches (2”) at planting, measured four and one half feet (4.5’) above grade. 

 
 (d) Maintenance of trees and landscaping.  If the removal of any tree or landscaping 
from any lot causes the number of remaining trees or vegetative species to fall below the minimum 
standards required by this section or as reflected on any approved site plan or landscaping plan for 
said lot, replacement trees or vegetative species meeting the requirements or this section or any 
approved site plan or landscaping plan shall be re-planted on the lot within thirty (30) days after 
removal. 
 
 

69



 
6 

 

*  *  * 
 
§9A-10.  EXCEPTIONS. 
 
  (a)   In the event that any tree shall be determined to pose an unacceptable risk as provided for in  
§ 9A-4 or to be in a hazardous or dangerous condition so as to endanger the public health, welfare 
or safety and requires immediate removal without delay, authorization may be given by the Public 
Works Department, and the such tree may be removed without first obtaining a written permit as 
herein required. Such authorization shall be given in writing. 
 
(b)   During a period of emergency, such as a hurricane, tropical storm, flood, or any other act of 
God, the requirements of this Article may be waived by the Town Commission. 
 
(c)   All licensed plant or tree nurseries shall be exempt from the terms and provisions of this 
Article only  in relation  to those trees planted and growing on the premises of the licensee, which 
are so planted and growing for sale or intended sale to the general public in the ordinary course of 
the licensee's business. 
 
(d)   The types of trees included on the current Florida Noxious Weed List and Florida Exotic Pest 
Council’s List of Invasive Plant Species shall be exempt from the terms and provisions of this 
article and shall not be used to meet any replacement or planting requirements. 
 

*  *  * 
§9A-12.  PENALTY. 
 

The improper removal of each tree shall constitute a separate offense under this chapter. 
Violation of this chapter and imposition of the penalty shall be determined and imposed by the 
Code Enforcement Board Special Magistrate or by a court of proper jurisdiction. 

 
Removal of any mature oak or similar trees without first obtaining a permit from the Town 

as required in § 9A-4 shall constitute prima facie evidence of a violation which is irreparable or 
irreversible in nature for the purposes of enhanced fine assessment provided for in §11-21(b)(1) or 
as otherwise amended.   

*  *  * 
 

SECTION 2.  That Article IV, Chapter 7A, Section 7A-53, of Appendix “A,” of the 

Town Code of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

§7A-53.  FENCES AND WALLS. 
 

*  *  * 
 
(2)   Fence/wall height - all zoning districts except as otherwise provided. 

70



 
7 

 

 
      a.   Fences/walls on rear property lines may be erected up to a maximum height of six (6) 
feet. 
 
      b.   Fences/walls on interior side lot lines may be erected up to a maximum height of six 
(6)feet from the rear property line up to the front building line. 
 
      c.   Portions of fences/walls that extend beyond the front building line may be erected up to a 
maximum height of four (4) feet, except that on residentially zoned lots abutting State Road A1A 
and Oak Street south of Ocean Avenue fences/walls that extend beyond the front building line 
may be erected up to maximum height of six (6) feet.  For any fence/wall installed on any lot 
beyond the front building line on or after March 16, 2023, any portion of the fence/wall running 
parallel to any right-of-way frontage shall have no less than four feet (4’) of vegetation planted 
on the right-of-way side of the fence/wall. 
 
      d.   Fences/walls on corner side lot lines may be erected up to a maximum height of six (6) 
feet from the rear property line up to the front building line. 
 
      e.   Portions of fences/walls on corner side lot lines that extend beyond the front building line 
may be erected up to a maximum height of four (4) feet, except that on residentially zoned lots 
abutting State Road A1A and Oak Street south of Ocean Avenue fences/walls that extend beyond 
the front building line may be erected up to maximum height of six (6) feet.  For any fence/wall 
installed on any lot beyond the front building line on or after March 16, 2023, any portion of the 
fence/wall running parallel to any right-of-way frontage shall have no less than four feet (4’) of 
vegetation planted on the right-of-way side of the fence/wall. Any fence/wall installed on any 
corner side lots that extend beyond the front building line must meet the sight triangular 
clearance requirements of §7A-53(4) and §7A-58 as may be amended. 
 
      f.   Chain link fences, to a maximum height of ten (10) feet, may be erected around tennis 
courts. The fences may be erected on the property line, behind the front building line, or on the 
rear property line, if the fence does not encroach upon any easements, rights-of-way, or similar 
encumbrances. 
 
      g.   Ornamental entrances, fountains, plant containers, and similar architectural features 
exceeding the wall height restriction will be permitted, provided that: 
 
         i.   No such feature shall exceed in height the wall height restriction for that district plus 
one (1) foot; and 
 
         ii.   There shall be only one such feature in any front, side or rear yard, except that there 
may be two (2) entrance gates.; and  
 
         iii.  Entrance gates must be designed such that they do not encroach into any right-of-way. 
 
(3)   Fence/wall height measurement. The required fence/wall height is measured from the 
finished grade of the land where the fence/wall is located prior to berming or placement of fill in 

71



 
8 

 

excess of that required by the Code of Ordinances, to the highest point of the fence/wall, 
including posts and ornamental and architectural features. A survey prepared by a licensed 
Florida mapper and surveyor with reference elevations shall be submitted with all wall and fence 
permit applications. Fence/wall height shall be measured from the surveyed elevation prior to 
placement of fill. 
 
(4)   Vision clearance at corners.  Fences/walls on corners lots shall not be located within the 
triangular clearance area formed by lines that are measured from the point of intersection of the 
rights-of-way a distance of 25 feet, along the lot lines, parallel to each street and the line that 
connects the endpoints of the two lines measured from the point of intersection of the rights-of-
way. 
 
(5)   Maintenance. All fences/walls shall be continuously maintained in a good and non- 
deteriorated condition, free of graffiti, peeling or blistering paint, broken or missing boards or 
posts, broken concrete block masonry, and the like. 
 
(6)   Submission of plans and building permits. Plans showing the exact location of all walls, 
fences, and hedges, and the proposed height, construction, and materials to be used, shall be 
submitted to the Building Official for approval, and the issuance of a permit for same upon 
payment for the permit. Termite and rot-resistant durable wood or rust and corrosion resistant 
material (or finish) shall be used. 
 
(7)   Fencing Enclosing of easements, rights-of-way, and sidewalks. 
 
 (a)   In the event a lot owner fences or encloses any utility easement, as a condition of any 
fence/wall permit, the lot owner agrees and understands that utilities, rights-of-way, and 
sidewalks may need repair, maintenance, installation or removal, from time to time, and that to 
do so it may be necessary for utility companies or public and governmental agencies, or their 
respective employees, agents, or independent contractors, to remove certain portions of a lot 
owner’s fence/wall.  The lot owner/occupant agrees as a permit condition to hold harmless the 
Town, any other governmental agencies, and any utility company, and their respective 
employees, agents, officials, and independent contractors, in both their official and individual 
capacities, from any costs related to fencing/walls or damages to fencing/walls arising from 
removal, repair, installation or maintenance of any utilities, rights-of-way, sidewalks or 
fences/walls. As used in this paragraph, the term utilities shall include cable television 
companies. 
 

(b)   Prior to issuance of a building permit for a fence or wall constructed on an easement 
or right-of-way the property owner shall sign an affidavit stating agreement with the conditions 
of this section. 
 
(8)   Installation. Fencing/walls shall be installed in such a manner as not to detract from the 
value of the adjoining residential property; in particular, the fence/wall shall have the finished 
side face the adjoining property. Walls and fences shall be installed abutting the property line in 
such a manner that they are located entirely on the property of the owner of the structure. 
 

72



 
9 

 

(9)   Fences/walls abutting beach or river access way or rights-of-way. Fences/walls up to a 
height of six (6) feet are allowed adjacent to and abutting any public or private motor vehicle or 
pedestrian access or right-of-way connecting to the Indian River Lagoon or the beach along the 
Atlantic Ocean. Said fence/wall may be located forward of the front building line; provided that 
said fence shall not be of a chain-link type. All of said fence/wall shall be setback a minimum of 
five (5) feet from any right-of-way line. 
 

*  *  * 
SECTION 3.  That Article IV, Chapter 7A, Section 7A-58, of Appendix “A,” of the 

Town Code of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 

§7A-58.  VISION CLEARANCE AT CORNERS. 

 Vision clearance at corners. Fences/walls on corner lots shall not be located within the triangular 
clearance area formed by lines that are measured from the point of intersection of the rights-of-way a 
distance of 25 feet, along the lot lines, parallel to each street and the line that connects the endpoints to the 
two lines measured from the point of intersection of the rights-of-way. 
 

 SECTION 4.  Severability/Interpretation Clause.   

(a)  In the event that any term, provision, clause, sentence or section of this 

Ordinance shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be partially or wholly unenforceable 

or invalid for any reason whatsoever, any such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not 

affect any of the other or remaining terms, provisions, clauses, sentences, or sections of this 

Ordinance, and this Ordinance shall be read and/or applied as if the invalid, illegal, or 

unenforceable term, provision, clause, sentence, or section did not exist. 

(b)  In interpreting the provisions of this Ordinance, the following rules and 

symbols shall apply: 

(1)  Words underlined are additions to existing text. 

(2)  Words stricken through are deletions from existing text. 

(3)  Asterisks (* * *) indicates a deletion from the Ordinance of text existing 

in the Code of Ordinances.  It is intended that the text in the Code of Ordinance denoted by the 

73



 
10 

 

asterisks and not set forth in this Ordinance shall remain unchanged from the language existing 

prior to adoption of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION 5.  Codification. The provisions of this Ordinance shall be codified as, and 

become and be made a part of, the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances. The sections 

of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention. 

 SECTION 6.  Ordinances and Resolutions in Conflict.  All ordinances or resolutions or 

parts thereof that may be determined to be in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 SECTION 7.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption.  

 SECTION 8.  Adoption Schedule.  

 PASSED by the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach on first reading on 

the 15th day of February, 2023, and ADOPTED by the Town Commission of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach, Florida, on final reading on the 15th day of March, 2023. 

 
 
TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

 
 

By:____________________________ 
        WYATT HOOVER, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
      (TOWN SEAL) 
_______________________ 
Amber Brown,  
Town Clerk 

74



75



76



Town Commission Agenda Item 

Section: Public Hearing (Second Reading) 

Meeting Date:  March 15, 2023  

Subject:  Proposed Ordinance 2023-02 (Second Kitchens) 
 

Submitted By:  Town Attorney Repperger 

Background Information: 
 
On June 15, 2022, the Town Commission directed that Town Staff develop an Ordinance 
improving regulation regarding second kitchens within single family residences (1-RS, 
2-RS, and 3-RS).   
 
On February 7, 2023, the Planning and Zoning Board/LPA voted to recommend approval 
of the proposed ordinance by a vote of 4-1. 
 
On February 15, 2023, the Town Commission passed Ordinance No. 2023-02 on First 
Reading.    
 
On March 7, 2023, the proposed Ordinance was returned to the Planning and Zoning 
Board/LPA for additional consideration given that the approved Ordinance was revised 
to address separate living quarters attached to the principal structure.  The Planning and 
Zoning Board/LPA voted to recommend approval of the proposed ordinance by a vote 
of 3-2. 
 
Summary of Proposed Ordinance Amendments: 
 
• Amends Section 1A-3 to add a definition for “Kitchen” or “Kitchen Facility” which 

excludes outdoor barbeque areas without a range or stove. 
 

• Amends Section 7A-31 to cite to appropriate supplementary regulations.  
 
• Amends Section 7A-32 to cite to appropriate supplementary regulations.  

 
• Amends Section 7A-33 to cite to appropriate supplementary regulations. 

 
• Creates Section 7A-72 to allow for second kitchens in 1-RS, 2-RS, and 3-RS zoning 

districts with permitting and regulatory conditions.  
 

 

77



 Attachments: 

•  Draft Ordinance 2023-02. 

•  Email from Town Planner Corey O’Gorman dated March 7, 2023 addressing 

question regarding conversion of single-family units to multi-family units. 

78



 
1 

 

   ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH, BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, AMENDING; 
APPENDIX “A” OF THE TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES 
OF MELBOURNE BEACH, THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE; AMENDING SECTION 1A-3 TO ADD THE 
DEFINITION FOR KITCHEN OR KITCHEN FACILITY; 
AMENDING CHAPTER 7A REGARDING SECOND 
KITCHENS; SPECIFICALLY AMENDING SECTION 7A-31, 
SECTION 7A-32, AND SECTION 7A-33 TO PERMIT 
SECOND KITCHENS IN 1-RS, 2-RS, AND 3-RS ZONING 
DISTRICTS; CREATING SECTION 7A-72 TO PROVIDE 
SUPPLEMENTARY DISTRICT REGULATIONS FOR 
SECOND KITCHENS IN SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICTS; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY/INTERPRETATION CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 
REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND 
RESOLUTIONS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; 
AND PROVIDING AN ADOPTION SCHEDULE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach desires to amend the Land Development Code 

of the Town of Melbourne Beach regarding second kitchens in residential zoning districts in the 
Town of Melbourne Beach within the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, after duly noticed 

public hearings, has determined that amendments to Sections 7A-31, Section 7A-32, and Section 
7A-33 of the Land Development Code to permit second kitchens in 1-RS, 2-RS, and 3-RS zoning 
districts and creation of standards for second kitchens in a new Section 7A-72 of the Land 
Development Code are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, are in the best interests of its 
citizens of the Town of Melbourne Beach, and promote the general health, safety, and welfare of 
the residents of the Town of Melbourne Beach; and 

 
WHEREAS, on February 7, 2023 and March 7, 2023 the Planning and Zoning Board/Local 

Planning Agency (collectively the “LPA”) at a duly noticed public hearing, reviewed and 
considered the proposed amendments to Sections 7A-31, Section 7A-32, and Section 7A-33 of the 
Land Development Code to permit second kitchens in 1-RS, 2-RS, and 3-RS zoning districts and 
the creation of standards for second kitchens in a new Section 7A-72 of the Land Development 
Code and took public comment regarding the same; and 

 
WHEREAS, the LPA has determined that the proposed amendments to Sections 7A-31, 

Section 7A-32, and Section 7A-33 of the Land Development Code to permit second kitchens in 1-
RS, 2-RS, and 3-RS zoning districts and the creation of standards for second kitchens in a new 
Section 7A-72 of the Land Development Code are consistent with the Town’s Comprehensive 

79



 
2 

 

Plan and are in the best interest of the Town of Melbourne and has recommended that the Town 
Commission approve of the same. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Commission and LPA have determined that an amendment to 

Section 1A-3 of the Land Development Code to add the definition of the terms “kitchen” or 
“kitchen facility” is necessary to allow for the desired regulatory changes and that such definition 
shall specifically exclude outdoor barbeque areas without a stove or range.   

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, FLORIDA: 
 

SECTION 1.  That Article I, Chapter 1A, Section 1A-3, of Appendix “A,” of the Town 

Code of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby created to 

read as follows: 

§1A-3.  DEFINITIONS. 
*  *  * 

 KITCHEN OR KITCHEN FACILITY.  A room or area within a room whose primary 
purpose is to store, prepare and cook food. A kitchen will have a refrigerator to store food, counter 
space and a sink to prepare food, and a stove and/or range to cook food.  An outdoor or external 
barbeque area with no stove or range shall not constitute a kitchen or kitchen facility. 

 

*  *  * 

SECTION 2.  That Section 7A-31 of Appendix “A,” of the Town Code of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby amended to read as follows:  

§7A-31.  1-RS SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

*  *  * 

(g)   Supplementary regulations: As provided in §§ 7A-50 through 7A-6972, and Chapter 9A. 
 
 

SECTION 3.  That Section 7A-32 of Appendix “A,” of the Town Code of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby amended to read as follows:  

§7A-32.  2-RS SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

*  *  * 

80



 
3 

 

(g)   Supplementary regulations: As provided in §§ 7A-50 through 7A-6972, and Chapter 9A. 
 
 

SECTION 4.  That Section 7A-33 of Appendix “A,” of the Town Code of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby amended to read as follows:  

§7A-33.  3-RS SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. 

*  *  * 

(g)   Supplementary regulations: As provided in §§ 7A-50 through 7A-6972, and Chapter 9A. 
 
 

SECTION 5.  That Article IV, Chapter 7A, Section 7A-72, of Appendix “A,” of the 

Town Code of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, Land Development Code, is hereby 

created to read as follows: 

§7A-72.  SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL SECOND KITCHEN FACILITY. 
 
 A second kitchen facility may be incorporated into a single-family residence located in the 1-RS, 
2-RS, and 3-RS zoning districts, provided the second kitchen facility meets the following conditions: 
 
 (1) The second kitchen facility and the area or quarters it serves shall be integrated 
architecturally into the principal single-family dwelling unit or may be located within separate quarters 
connected to the principal single-family dwelling unit by a common wall or common roof.   For purposes 
of this Section, a breezeway connection between the principal single-family dwelling unit structure and the 
separate quarters served by the second kitchen may constitute a common roof.  Access to the second kitchen 
shall be as required by the Florida Building Code. 
 
 (2) A permit for construction must be obtained, and a floor plan of the entire single-family 
residence, including the additional kitchen facility, demonstrating compliance with the conditions set forth 
in this section, shall be submitted to the Building Official for plan review and approval prior to construction 
of any second kitchen.  The approved floor plan shall be binding upon all future construction plans in regard 
to the single-family residence and the second kitchen facility. 
 
 (3) No portion of the single-family dwelling unit shall be utilized for rental purposes, and the 
single-family dwelling unit shall be served by only one electrical and water meter. 
 
 (4) The single-family dwelling unit shall continue to be utilized by no more than one family. 
 
 (5) The property upon which the second kitchen is planned to be installed must have a valid 
Brevard County property tax homestead exemption at the time of permit application.  A second kitchen 
facility must be removed within one year of the loss or removal of the homestead exemption maintained on 
the property.   
 
 

81



 
4 

 

  

 SECTION 6.  Severability/Interpretation Clause.   

(a)  In the event that any term, provision, clause, sentence or section of this 

Ordinance shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be partially or wholly unenforceable 

or invalid for any reason whatsoever, any such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not 

affect any of the other or remaining terms, provisions, clauses, sentences, or sections of this 

Ordinance, and this Ordinance shall be read and/or applied as if the invalid, illegal, or 

unenforceable term, provision, clause, sentence, or section did not exist. 

(b)  In interpreting the provisions of this Ordinance, the following rules and 

symbols shall apply: 

(1)  Words underlined are additions to existing text. 

(2)  Words stricken through are deletions from existing text. 

(3)  Asterisks (* * *) indicates a deletion from the Ordinance of text existing 

in the Code of Ordinances.  It is intended that the text in the Code of Ordinance denoted by the 

asterisks and not set forth in this Ordinance shall remain unchanged from the language existing 

prior to adoption of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION 7.  Codification. The provisions of this Ordinance shall be codified as, and 

become and be made a part of, the Town of Melbourne Beach Code of Ordinances. The sections 

of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention. 

 SECTION 8.  Ordinances and Resolutions in Conflict.  All ordinances or resolutions or 

parts thereof that may be determined to be in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 SECTION 9.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption.  

 SECTION 10.  Adoption Schedule.  

 PASSED by the Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach on first reading on  

82



 
5 

 

the 15th day of February, 2023, and ADOPTED by the Town Commission of the Town of  

Melbourne Beach, Florida, on final reading on the 15th day of March, 2023. 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 
 
 

By:____________________________ 
        WYATT HOOVER, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
      (TOWN SEAL) 
_______________________ 
Amber Brown,  
Town Clerk 

83



1

Melbourne Beach Town Clerk

Subject: FW: Proposed Ordinance 2023-02 (Second Kitchens) (P and Z 3-7-2023) (Town Commission 
3-15-23)

 
 
From: Corey OGorman <corey@placepnd.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, March 7, 2023 6:55 AM 
To: Cliff Repperger <cliff@whitebirdlaw.com> 
Cc: Melbourne Beach Town Manager <TownManager@melbournebeachfl.org>; Melbourne Beach Building Official 
<BuildingOfficial@melbournebeachfl.org>; Melbourne Beach Town Clerk <TownClerk@melbournebeachfl.org> 
Subject: RE: Proposed Ordinance 2023-02 (Second Kitchens) (P and Z 3-7-2023) (Town Commission 3-15-23) 
 
Good morning Cliff, 
 
I have reviewed the revised language a ached to your email and relevant sec ons of the Town Code and offer the following: 
 

 Sec on 1A-3 defines an accessory structure as “A permanent building or structure, subordinate to and located on the 
same lot with a principal building, the use of which is clearly incidental to that of the principal building and which is not 
a ached by any part of a common wall or common roof to the principal building.” 

 Sec on 1A-3 defines a dwelling unit as “One (1) or more rooms with private bath and kitchen facili es comprising an 
independent self-contained dwelling unit.” 

 Sec on 1A-3 defines a principal structure as “the primary building or structure on a lot or building site designed or 
used to accommodate the primary use for which the property is intended.” 

 The proposed code language includes restric ons on the 2nd kitchens including the following: 
o It shall be integrated architecturally into the principal dwelling unit or connected by a common wall or 

common roof. 
o A permit must be obtained. 
o No por on of the dwelling shall be used for rental purposes and shall be served by one electric and water 

meter. 
o The dwelling shall be u lized by no more than one family. 
o There must be a valid homestead exemp on. 

 
Based on the above, with the 2nd kitchen either architecturally integrated into the exis ng single-family home or connected by 
a common wall or common roof it is consistent with the defini on of the principal structure and would not be an accessory 
structure.  In addi on, with the restric ons including service by a single water / electric meter and residency by no more than 
one family, this is consistent with the defini on of a “dwelling unit” cons tu ng a single unit. 
 
Consequently, as wri en the proposed addi on of a 2nd kitchen would remain a single-family home as defined by the Town 
Code and would not result in conversion of single-family homes into mul -family structures.   
 
I hope this is helpful.  Please let me know if you have any ques ons.  THANKS! 
 
Corey W. O'Gorman AICP 
Place Planning 
700 US Highway One, Suite C 
North Palm Beach, FL 33408 
561-863-2722 Phone 
561-863-2733 fax 
561-801-2461 cell 
 

84



Proclamation 
Town of Melbourne Beach  

 
NATIONAL HUMAN TRAFFICKING AWARENESS AND PREVENTION MONTH 

 
 WHEREAS, January 2023 has been designated as National Human Trafficking Awareness 
and Prevention Month by the Federal Government; and 

 

 WHEREAS, human trafficking is the illegal trade of human beings, a public health and 
humanitarian issue, a form of modern-day slavery, and a crime against humanity that violates the 
most basic human rights and deprives victims of their freedom; and 
 
 WHEREAS, human trafficking is the recruitment, harboring, transporting, providing, or obtaining of 
a person for the purpose of a commercial sex act, labor, or services induced by force, fraud, or coercion, or 
in which the person induced to perform such act has not attained 18 years of age, and 
 
 WHEREAS, over 45 million people are being trafficked worldwide and the United States is one of 
the worst counties globally with an estimated 199,000 incidents occurring each year, and  
 
 WHEREAS, Florida  ranks third in the United States for human trafficking cases reported to 
the National Human Trafficking Resource Center with the Central Region having the highest 
number of cases reported to the Florida Department of Children and Families, as human traffickers 
regard Florida as one of the most attractive destination and transit points for their victims, and 
 
 WHEREAS, human trafficking has increased exponentially as the fastest growing and third 
largest international criminal enterprise behind illegal drugs and arms trades, generating over 150 
billion dollars, specifically involving child sexual abuse material, pornography, and online exploitation 
and often involves family members or those personally known to the victim, and 
 
 WHEREAS, human trafficking community awareness initiatives, interventions, and education of 
parents and caregivers are critical to the fabric of our society as the average age of recruitment into 
trafficking is 12-14 years of age, and half of all trafficking victims are children.  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Wyatt Hoover, Mayor of the Town of Melbourne Beach, in the State of 

Florida, do hereby proclaim January 2023 as:  

National Human Trafficking Awareness and Prevention Month 

In the Town of Melbourne Beach and urge its’ residents, agencies, and champions to support efforts 

and actions to end human trafficking. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach to be affixed this fifteenth day of March, Two Thousand Twenty-Three. 

85



Proclamation 
Town of Melbourne Beach  

 
WATER CONSERVATION MONTH 

 

 WHEREAS, water is a basic and essential need of every living creature; and 

 WHEREAS, the State of Florida, Water Management Districts, and the Town of Melbourne 

Beach are working together to increase awareness about the importance of water conservation; and 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach and the State of Florida have designated April, 

typically a dry month when water demands are most acute, Florida’s Water Conservation Month, to 

educate citizens about how they can help save Florida’s precious water resources; and 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Melbourne Beach has always encouraged and supported water 

conservation, through various educational programs and special events; and 

 WHEREAS, every business, industry, school, and citizen can make a difference when it 

comes to conserving water; and 

 WHEREAS, every business, industry, school, and citizen can help by saving water and thus 

promote a healthy economy and community; and 

 WHEREAS, leak prevention is commonly thought to be the first step in conserving water, the 

Town of Melbourne Beach will encourage citizens and businesses to focus on fixing leaks; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Wyatt Hoover, Mayor of the Town of Melbourne Beach, in the State of 

Florida, do hereby proclaim April 2023 as:  

Water Conservation Month 

The Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida, is calling upon each citizen and business to help protect 

our precious resources by practicing water-saving measures and becoming more aware of the 

need to save water.  For this, the 25th year of Water Conservation Month, there will be a special 

focus on fixing leaks and all forms of water loss. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the Seal of the Town of 

Melbourne Beach to be affixed this fifteenth day of March, Two Thousand Twenty-Three. 

86



87



88



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business   

Meeting Date:  March 15, 2023 

From:   Elizabeth Mascaro, Town Manager 

Subject:  Beach Clean Up Bags    

 

Background Information: 

I received the email below from Casie Farrell asking if the Teens of Blue World Research 

Institute could install a cleanup station in Ocean Park. 

I was wondering who I need to speak to about installing a beach cleanup station at Ocean Ave 

Beach Park. Our organization installed a Fill A Bag station ( https://fillabag.co/) at Pelican 

Beach Park in Satellite Beach and it has been very well received. We would like to install one in 

Melbourne Beach for your beach goers to use. The Marine Teens will build and maintain the 

station at no cost to the town. The station is a 4x4 post with 4 buckets attached to it that 

beachgoers can use to collect trash. 

Teens of Blue World Research Institute 

Casie Farrell  

 

 Recommendation:  Consider the installation of a Clean Up Station 

  

 

 

 

Attachments:  Picture of Clean Up Station in Pelican Park 

89



90



Town Commission Meeting  

Section:   New Business   

Meeting Date:  March 15, 2023 

From:   Elizabeth Mascaro, Town Manager 

Subject:  Contract Renewal Computer Experts    

 

Background Information: 

Computer Experts has been the IT provider for the Town since 2016.  The last contract renewal 

was May 21, 2018. When the 2018 Contract was renewed the Town utilized 36 computing 

devices.  The Towns monthly cost for Police, Fire and Town Hall was $1599. Monthly. 

Computer Experts provides the Town with excellent cyber security and phone and onsite support.  

We receive monthly newsletters keeping us up to date with the latest scams and areas of concern.  

The Town also receives alerts when there are active scams and virus in cyberspace.  Currently 

we utilize 64 computing devices.   

The hourly rates provide on Exhibit C are the rates for customers without service contracts. All of 

our services are included in our monthly rate, with the exception of After Hour Emergency 

Services. 

Our new contract rate will be $2322 monthly, an increase of $823 per month.  This equates to an 

annual increase from 2018 to 2023 of @ $206.00 per year over the past four (4) years.  

 

 

 Recommendation:  Consider approving the new contract for Computer Experts 

  

 

 

 

Attachments:  2023 Service Agreement 

   Exhibits A, C & D from the 2018 Service Agreement 

91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



Town Commission Agenda Item 
Section: New Business 

Meeting Date:  March 15, 2023  

Subject:  Request for Reduction Code Enforcement Fine CEB 2019-CE-054 
 
Submitted By:  Town Attorney Repperger 

Background Information: 
 
On December 5, 2019, the Code Enforcement Board rendered a Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law, and Order finding a violation of Sections 4A-20 and 7A-53(6) 
regarding installation of a fence on 419 Ocean Ave., Unit 203, Melbourne Beach, FL 
32951 without a permit. 
 
The fine imposed ($25.00 per day) accrued from January 5, 2020 to December 6, 2022 
and totals $26,675.00.   Town Staff inspected the Subject Property and deemed the 
violation to be in compliance on December 7, 2022. 
 
On or about March 1, 2023, attorney Dennis Fairbanks representing the owners of the 
Subject Property filed a Request for Reduction or Waiver of Fine.  An explanation of the 
Request and a Reduction or Waiver Factor Worksheet is attached. 
 
As provided in  Section 11-21(b)(3)(C)4, Town Code, the Code Enforcement Special 
Magistrate typically issues a recommendation on such requests to the Town 
Commission.  However, because the enforcement case in question was initially heard 
by the Code Enforcement Board prior to the Town’s transition to a Special Magistrate in 
2020, it appropriate for the Town Commission to consider this matter directly. 
 
Town Staff recommends that the Town Commission consider the request and take 
action as it deems appropriate given the circumstances.  

Attachments: 

•  Order on CEB 2019-CE-054 
•  Filed Request for Reduction or Waiver of Fine and Reduction or          

Waiver Factor Worksheet 

107



108



109



110



 

 

REDUCTION OR WAIVER FACTOR WORKSHEET 
 
A.  Extenuating Circumstances? Circle any that apply. 
 1) The Applicant did not have the resource to comply 
 2) The applicant had a financial hardship 
 3) The applicant had a medical hardship 
 4) The applicant was experiencing hard times or was a victim of circumstances 
  Explain: Applicant was unaware of the violation.  Applicant did not create the  
  Violation and Applicant did not receive notice.                                                  .  
 5) There were technical and/or procedural issues with the case 
 6) The applicant did not have authority to make corrections (i.e., other legal 
  Action pending) 
 7) The required corrections were complex in nature  
 8) The applicant’s age prevented timely compliance  
 9) The applicant experienced a language barrier  
 
B. Nature of the violation. 
 1) Heightened health, safety, welfare concern   Yes/No 
 2) The amount of time to correct 
  a) 1-60 days 
  b) 61-120 days 
  c) Over 11 days  
 3) Degree of responsibility the applicant contributed to the delay in compliance  
  a) None 
  b) Somewhat 
  c) Complete 
 4) The applicant’s level of cooperation with code enforcement  
  a) None 
  b) Somewhat 
  c) Complete 
 5) Did the applicant ever request an extension of the compliance date? 
  Yes     was it granted denied  None requested__√__ 
 6) If yes, how many extensions were granted?    
 
C. What type of interest does the applicant have on the property? 
 1) Considering acquiring the property 
 2) Foreclosure/Tax Deed Sale 
 3) Inherited property 
 4) Acquired property from the violator  
 5) The applicant was the owner when the violation occurred  
 
D. Financial beneficiary of the reduction or waiver 
 1) Violator  
 2) New owner who corrected the violation  
 3) Government Entity/Acquired property to correct and resolve the violation 

111



112



113



114



       Town Manager Report for March 2023 
 

 

 

1. Brewer Paving & Development, LLC will begin paving project in approximately two weeks.  Waiting for 

the pipe to be delivered. 

2.  Attended P&Z meeting. Site plans approved, Tree Ordinance approved, Second Kitchen 3/2 vote.   

the Town of Melbourne Beach. 

 

3. Attended Board of Adjustments meeting.  Coastal Variance approved. 

 

4. Building Official, Dave Micka and I met with the Roger and Doris Newell to discuss the vacation rental 

on Colony. Notice has been sent to homeowner that Vacation Rental must be registered with the Town. 

 

 5.  Met with Kelly Hyvonen from Land Development Strategies to discuss bringing language forward for 

an Ordinance that would address parking and outdoor seating.  I should have detail at the next Town 

Commission meeting. 

 

 6.  Andrea Hart from the Coastal Community School will be hold a Moonlight 5k run at Spessard Holland 

Golf Course on Friday, May 5th.  The run will be in conjunction with Founders Day, with the Town 

supporting the event with social media coverage and banners.  This will be a Family Fun event, which we 

hope will become an annual event. 

 

7. Met with Deklyn Gardner a senior at West Shore Jr./Sr. High School. To graduate, Deklyn is required 

to complete a senior project.  He plans to design a website that can be accessed through QR codes 

placed in Ryckman Park.  The QR codes will identify native species in our park.    

 

8.  Working with Chief Brown and the Indialantic Town Manager to obtain more information about 

hiring full time lifeguards.  The Town Attorney also mentioned a possible sports grant which we may be 

able to use to hire lifeguards. 

 

9.  EAB completed the installation of a butterfly garden between the Library and the Market.  The funds 

for the garden plants were paid for through the Sunshine donation to the EAB. 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

115



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 
BREVARD COUNTY’S OLDEST BEACH COMMUNITY ESTABLISHED 1883 

507 OCEAN AVENUE, MELBOURNE BEACH, FL 32951-2523 
(321) 724-5860         FAX: (321) 984-8994       www.melbournebeachfl.org 

 
 
 

Building Department Report   
 

February 2023 
 

 
 

  permits issued 52 

 Construction value of the 52 permits totaled $1,255,826.08 

 Total permit fees $20,671.80 

 100 inspections completed 

 75 plans reviewed 

 4 site plan review for P&Z 

 0 vacation rental inspections 

 0 new homes 

 1 stop work order 
 

116



117



118



03/10/2023

1/2
Inspection Totals

Building 4

Building - Final 2

Column & Tie Beam 1

Dry-In 11

Dry-In Roof 1

Drywall 3

Final Building 4

Final Electrical 6

Final Fence 5

Final Mechanical 7

Final Plumbing 4

Final Pool Enclosure 1

Final Reroof 9

Final Seawall 2

Final Solar 1

Final Window, Door, & Shutter 7

Footer 3

Framing 1

Insulation 2

Plumbing Underground 2

119



03/10/2023

2/2
Inspection Totals

Roof Sheathing 1

Rough Electrical 1

Rough Mechanical 1

Rough Plumbing 2

Sheathing 2

Slab 5

Solar Panel Affidavit 2

Steel & Ground 2

Truss, Bracing & Strapping 1

Ufer Ground 1

Underground Plumbing 6

Total # of Inspections: 100

120



Public Works Activities 

February 2023 

 

 

Continuous mowing – landscape edging, trimming  

Complete irrigation system work – ongoing maintenance by landscape person 

Spread fill dirt on east and west side of Ryckman house covered large roots and sodded 

Filled in area along Orange avenue where underground water is and sodded 

Rope lines/post installed on pathways to beach protect dunes 

Met with rep. from Save Turtles arranging to get turtle signs replaced 

Rebuilt part of mobile information sign trailer 

Installed sun shades on toddler playground area 

Continued fine tuning of cameras 

Did rough out of pathway behind pavilions – edging to be installed and benches 

Met with Bowman Engineering ref. 6th Ave. ramp area 

Installed stop signs/stop bars Shannon and Citrus 

Removed sea grapes Shannon and Citrus 

Built boardwalk north side of Ryckman restrooms  

Built boardwalk from playground area to sidewalk on Ocean Ave. 80 feet long 

Rebuilt the large cover over the city water inlet area west of Ryckman house 

Assembled 4 more rocking chairs and placed them on Ryckman house porch 

Unclogged toilet upstairs Town Hall 

Replaced light in janitor closet Ocean Park 

Repaired stop sign Orange and Rosewood 

 

121



 

  

Monthly Report Page 1 
 

   
 

 

Operations:  

In February 2023, The Department responded to 1118 calls for service and 70 house checks.   

Activity: 

 19   Citations 

 101 Traffic Stops 

 127 Traffic Enforcement 

 2     Traffic Complaint 

 24   Parking Citations 

 Our radar trailer continues to be placed in various locations throughout the Town.    

 PD News 

 The Police Department has lost and found miscellaneous items that have been brought into the 

department, for example, keys, sunglasses, and children's toys. These items were found at our 

beach accesses and Rychman Park. If you believe you may have lost things, come to the Police 

Department during business hours Monday – Friday, 8 am to 5 pm. 

 SRO Bradley assisted school faculty with Grandparents Day and Valentine's Day breakfast. In 

addition, he performed February Monthly Fire Drill with assistance from M.B.F.D. 

  

The Melbourne Beach Police Officers and I are committed to community policing and keeping our Town safe, 

which is our #1 priority.  

Please see the attachments:  

 Speed Trailer report: Down for maintenance 

 Sergeant's monthly reports      

  Stay Safe, Chief Melanie Griswold 

 

 

Melbourne Beach Police Department 

Monthly Report 

February 2023 

122



Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Total Calls for Service 1578 1188 2766
Total Felonies 0 5 5
Total Misdemeanors 5 2 7
Total Capias Requests 0 0 0
Total Traffic Arrests 1 0 1
Total Other Arrests 3 0 3

911 Investigation 27 42 69
Alarm Business 5 7 12
Alarm Residence 1 1 2
Alarm Vehicle 0 1 1
Assault 0 0 0
Animal Complaint 7 4 11
AOA Fire/Medical 6 5 11
AOA LEO 13 11 24
Assist Citizen 7 11 18
Assist DCF 1 2 3
Assist Motorist 1 0 1
Attempt To Contact 4 7 11
Baker Act 0 3 3
Battery 0 1 1
Battery-Domestic 1 0 1
Burglary - Residential 0 1 1
Burglary - Vehicle 1 3 4
Civil Matter 1 4 5
Crash 6 1 7
Criminal Mischief 0 3 3
Deceased Person 0 0 0
Disturbance 3 2 5
Disturbance Domestic 1 1 2
Disturbance Noise 2 3 5
Fraud/Forgery 1 2 3
House Checks 161 70 231
Illegal Dumping 0 0 0
Illegal Parking 21 27 48
Indecent/Lewd Act 1 0 1
Information 8 6 14
Injured/Ill Person 20 17 37

Melbourne Beach Police Department
123



Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Intoxicated Driver 0 0 0
Intoxicated Person 1 0 1
Investigation 1 0 1
Missing Person 0 0 0
Narcotics 0 0 0
Open Door 3 0 3
Ordinance Violation/Code Enf 1 0 1
Overdose 0 1 1
Parking Citations 21 24 45
Patrol Area 87 70 157
Patrol Area Business 185 160 345
Patrol Area Residential 522 453 975
Patrol Area School 22 20 42
Phone Call - Threatening 1 0 1
Property Confiscated 0 0 0
Property Found 3 5 8
Property Lost 0 1 1
Reckless Driving 5 4 9
Retail Theft 0 0 0
School Zone 23 30 53
Shooting in the Area 1 0 1
Soliciting 1 1 2
Special Detail 0 0 0
Special Response ATV 0 0 0
Special Response Drone 0 0 0
Standby-Keep the Peace 1 1 2
Suicide 0 1 1
Suicide - Attempt/Threat 0 1 1
Suspicious Incident 19 9 28
Suspicious Person 11 6 17
Suspicious Vehicle 14 21 35
Theft 1 1 2
Traffic Citations 47 19 66
Traffic Complaint 3 2 5
Traffic Enforcement 327 127 454
Traffic Stop 205 101 306
Traffic Obstruction 0 0 0
Trespass 0 3 3

Melbourne Beach Police Department
124



Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Vehicle Abandoned 1 0 1
Vehicle Inspection 4 5 9
Vehicle Repo/Tow 0 0 0
Wanted Person 0 0 0
Written Warnings 26 5 31

Vehicle Mileage Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec YTD
Car 300 1000 1000
Car 360 425 425
Car 361 1066 1066
Car 363 118 118
Car 364 74 74
Car 366 548 548
Car 367 625 625
ATV 1 0 0
ATV 2 0 0

Melbourne Beach Police Department
125



 

 

   
 
 

Monthly Report February 2023 
 

 
House Checks: 47  
 

• 02/09: Assist other agency in 100 block of Sea Dunes Drive. Officers responded to assist 
Brevard County Sheriff’s in securing a scene of a death investigation.  

• 02/24: Warrant arrest in the 300 block of First Avenue. The male subject was stopped for a 
traffic violation and had a warrant. The male subject was arrested and turned over to 
Brevard County Sheriff’s jail van. 

• 02/24: Assist other agency (Overdose) in the 200 block of Sixth Avenue. The officers arrived 
on scene with Brevard County Fire Rescue. The male subject was pronounced deceased 
on scene. Brevard County Sheriff’s Office took over the investigation.    

• 02/24: Criminal mischief in the 500 block of Ocean Avenue. Unknown person(s) put graffiti 
on the men’s bathroom.  

MELBOURNE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Jason Hinchman 

Sergeant 
507 Ocean Ave, Melbourne Beach, FL 32951 

Phone: (321) 723-4343  Fax: (321)725-3253 
 

126



 

 

   
 

 Sgt. Sadler Monthly Report February 2023 
 

2/05- Domestic disturbance in the 300 blk of Avenue B. The disturbance was only verbal. 
 
2/11- Grand theft of a motor vehicle in the 300 blk of Hibiscus Trail. The vehicle was recovered 
by Melbourne PD and the case is pending investigation.  
 
2/11- Vehicle burglary in the 500 blk of Andrews Drive. Case is pending investigation. 
 
2/11- Two Vehicle burglaries in the 500 blk of Avenue B. Case is pending investigation. 
 
2/11- Vehicle burglary in the 400 blk of Andrews Drive. Case pending investigation. 
 
2/13- Trespassing on a posted construction site in the 500 blk of Third Avenue. Case pending 
investigation. 
 
2/14- Baker Act in the 2100 blk of Oak Street. Juvenile transported to Circles of Care under a 
Baker Act. 
 
2/19- Assisted the Brevard County Sheriff’s Office with a suicide attempt call in the 3800 blk of 
MacFarlane Street. White male was found awake and breathing and was transported to the 
hospital by BCFR. 
 
2/19- Residential burglary in the 500 blk of Shannon Avenue. Victim declined to prosecute. 
 
2/19- Drowning in the area of First Avenue and Atlantic Street. Pending investigation by BCSO. 
 
2/20- Baker Act in the 700 blk of Riverside Drive. White female transported to Circles of Care 
under a Baker Act. 
 
2/21- Check forgery in the 500 blk of Ocean Avenue. Case pending investigation. 
 
 

• Total House Checks - 23 
 

MELBOURNE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Jason Sadler 

Sergeant 
507 Ocean Ave, Melbourne Beach, FL 32951 

Phone: (321) 723-4343  Fax: (321)725-3253 
 

127



Page 1 of 2 

Melbourne Beach 

Vol. Fire Department 
507 Ocean Avenue 

Melbourne Beach, FL 32951 

(321)724-1736 
FireChief@MelbourneBeachFL.org 

 
 

 

FIRE DEPARTMENT MONTHLY REPORT 

February 2023 
 

 

 
Incident Response 

For the month of February 2023, the Melbourne Beach Volunteer Fire Department 

responded to 14 calls for service.  The average number of responding volunteer 

personnel per paged out call for the month was 12.    

Breakdown: 

 9 Fire/Rescue 911 Calls (Paged out) 

 2 Medical Assist Incidents 

 1 Special Event Coverage Detail - Parade 

 1 Public Service – Gemini Fire Drill  

 1 False Call – Duplicate 

 

 

Department Membership 

 Certified Firefighters: 23 

 Support Services Personnel: 6 

 Administrative Personnel: 2 

 Probationary Personnel: 5 

 

 

 

 

128

mailto:FireChief@MelbourneBeachFL.org


Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Notable Incidents 

 02/04/2023 – Mutual Aid to BCFR for structure fire in South Beaches.   

 02/07/2023 – Mutual Aid to BCFR/BCOR for swimmer in distress in South 
Beaches. 

 2/10/2023 – Mutual Aid to BCFR for possible boat fire in the river south of the 
powerlines.  

 02/19/2023 – Swimmers in distress w/ 1 drowning victim at Ocean Park. 

 02/26/2023 – Mutual Aid to IFD for swimmers in distress. 

 

Notable Events 

The Department responded to multiple water rescue / drowning incidents at the beaches during 

the month of February.  Many of the incidents are believed to be due to strong rip currents and 

beachgoers inexperienced with ocean swimming.  It is stressed that all ocean swimming should 

be done near a lifeguarded beach.  Chief Brown is working with other local fire, rescue, and law 

enforcement agencies to improve coordination and response to these incidents, as well as 

investigating the possibility of year-round life guard coverage for Ocean Park. 

A group of MBVFD State certified volunteer firefighters attended a multi-agency live fire training 

event at Eastern Florida State College. 

In addition to leading the parade, the MBVFD ran point for traffic control for the Melbourne 

Beach Little League Parade this year.  The event ran smoothly with no incidents. 

Units from the MBVFD and MBPD conducted a birthday party drive-by for a child in the 

community. 

Fire Department leadership continues to work with the Volunteer Firefighters Association Board 

of Directors and multiple marine contractors to discuss potential ideas and funding options for 

the construction of a dock & boat lift for the Fire Department’s marine rescue boat.  The 

Association agreed to consider funding the project, and additional information and ideas will be 

brought to the Town Commission Workshop in April. 

Chief Brown attended meetings with Melbourne Beach’s Medical Director regarding expanding 

the Fire Departments medical capabilities, and with other local fire agencies regarding 

accountability system upgrades. 

A few members of the Fire, Police, Town Hall, and Public Works Departments have teamed up 

to help raise money for childhood cancer research as part of the St. Baldrick’s Space Coast 

Conquers event in Viera on March 18th.  Statistically more children are lost to cancer in the U.S. 

than to any other disease, with about 1 in every 263 children (under the age of 20) being 

diagnosed.  To date the team has raised over $1,000 for the cause.  People can read more 

about the event and join our team or donate at www.stbaldricks.org/teams/melbeach.   

129

http://www.stbaldricks.org/teams/melbeach


Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 3/10/2023 7:54:34 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Incident Address and Type for Date Range (Landscape)

INCIDENT # DATE LOCATION 
TYPE ADDRESS INCIDENT TYPE ALARM CLEARED

SCENE
2023-22 02/04/2023 4560 S. Highway A1A , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Building fire 02/04/2023 17:33 02/04/2023 17:52

2023-23 02/05/2023 Intersection  Palm CT  / S. Palm Ave, Indialantic, FL, 32903 Dispatched & cancelled en route 02/05/2023 05:29 02/05/2023 05:38

2023-24 02/07/2023 2281 Atlantic ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Search for person in water 02/07/2023 11:06 02/07/2023 11:36

2023-25 02/10/2023 3220 River Villa WAY , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 False alarm or false call, other 02/10/2023 18:35 02/10/2023 19:00

2023-26 02/10/2023 3220 River Villa WAY , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Good intent call, other 02/10/2023 18:20 02/10/2023 19:15

2023-27 02/14/2023 507 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Medical assist, assist EMS crew 02/14/2023 09:46 02/14/2023 10:04

2023-28 02/17/2023 2100 Oak ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Public service 02/17/2023 08:29 02/17/2023 10:04

2023-29 02/19/2023 Intersection  Ocean AVE  / Atlantic, Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Search for person in water 02/19/2023 16:07 02/19/2023 16:31

2023-30 02/19/2023 190 Ocean AVE , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Good intent call, other 02/19/2023 21:31 02/19/2023 21:53

2023-31 02/25/2023 2100 Oak ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Public service 02/25/2023 15:24 02/25/2023 16:28

2023-32 02/26/2023 Intersection  5th AVE  / Wave Crest Ave, Indialantic, FL, 32903 Search for person in water 02/26/2023 17:09 02/26/2023 18:19

2023-33 02/27/2023 2545 Atlantic ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Medical assist, assist EMS crew 02/27/2023 09:48 02/27/2023 10:01

2023-34 02/28/2023 1005 Atlantic ST , Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 02/28/2023 09:14 02/28/2023 09:39

2023-35 02/28/2023 Intersection  Atlantic  / Surf Rd, Melbourne Beach, FL, 32951 Motor vehicle accident with injuries 02/28/2023 17:37 02/28/2023 17:59

Incident Status(s): All Incident Statuses | Start Date: 02/01/2023 | End Date: 02/28/2023

Doc Id: 1251
emergencyreporting.com

Location Type is only filled in when it is marked Intersection, Directions, or National Grid on Basic Info 3.

Page # 1 of 1

130



Melbourne Beach, FL
This report was generated on 3/10/2023 12:50:23 PM

Melbourne Beach VFD

Personnel Count per Incident for Date Range

INCIDENT NUMBER OF PEOPLE

NUMBER DATE INCIDENT TYPE FDID ON 
APPARATUS

NOT ON 
APPARATUS TOTAL

2023-22 2/4/2023 17:33:36 111 - Building fire 19112 1 12 13

2023-23 2/5/2023 05:29:41 611 - Dispatched & cancelled en route 19112 1 6 7

2023-24 2/7/2023 11:06:19 342 - Search for person in water 19112 4 8 12

2023-25 2/10/2023 18:35:49 700 - False alarm or false call, other 19112 9 11 20

2023-26 2/10/2023 18:20:15 600 - Good intent call, other 19112 9 11 20

2023-27 2/14/2023 09:46:10 311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 19112 2 0 2

2023-28 2/17/2023 08:29:55 553 - Public service 19112 1 0 1

2023-29 2/19/2023 16:07:33 342 - Search for person in water 19112 7 7 14

2023-30 2/19/2023 21:31:15 600 - Good intent call, other 19112 4 5 9

2023-31 2/25/2023 15:24:00 553 - Public service 19112 14 0 14

2023-32 2/26/2023 17:09:23 342 - Search for person in water 19112 9 2 11

2023-33 2/27/2023 09:48:01 311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 19112 1 0 1

2023-34 2/28/2023 09:14:23 321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury 19112 3 6 9

2023-35 2/28/2023 17:37:37 322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 19112 1 13 14

TOTAL # OF INCIDENTS: 14 AVERAGES: 4.7 5.8 10.5

Start Date: 02/01/2023 | End Date: 02/28/2023

Doc Id: 358
emergencyreporting.com

Only REVIEWED incidents included

Page # 1 of 1

**
**
**

**

**
**

**

**
**

** Without EMS Assist or Service Calls:                   4.3               7.8            12.1 
             (Paged out calls only)

Total # of incidents 
    paged out for 
volunteer response: 9

Note: 900 series "Special Incidents" include fire inspections performed.

131



  
 

1 
 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

Finance Department 

 

Memo 
To: Mayor, Vice Mayor and Commissioners 

From: Jennifer Kerr, Finance Manager 

Date: March 10, 2022 

Re: February Fiscal Year 2023   

We are in the fifth month of our fiscal year 2023. The target expenditure rate for February is 41.67%. All departments are 

managing their expenditures well at this time. All budget items highlighted in green are over the target rate but within the 

anticipated spending of that budget line. Items highlighted in yellow are being monitored, and items highlighted in red are over 

expended. Some budget lines are fully expended early in the budget year while other lines like salaries and health insurance are 

paid on a monthly basis. The total General Fund expenditure rate, year to date is 35.63%. The Departmental expenditure rate 

breakdown is as follows:   

 

Legislative:  26.74% 

  Executive:  35.34% 

  Finance:  36.68%  

  Legal:   38.31% 

  Comp & Plan:    13.59% 

  General Services: 34.63% 

  Law Enforcement: 38.44% 

  Fire:   20.01% 

  Code:   23.16% 

  Public Works:  41.68% 

  Grounds Keeping: 32.69% 

  Parks:   78.05%       

 

 

Discussion Items:  

 

The Town received Parking Revenue in February in the amount of $16,883.25 

 

FEMA has closed out and obligated funding for Hurricane Ian in the amount of $31,187.69  

 

We are actively working with FEMA for funding for Hurricane Nicole.   

 

We are currently in the FY22 Audit.  

132



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE FOR TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH                                                                      
Balance As Of 02/28/2023                                                                                        

Fund: 001 GENERAL FUND
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

001-00-311.00.00 AD VALOREM TAXES 2,418,002.00 0.00 214,454.54 91.13
001-00-312.41.00 LOCAL OPTION COUNTY GAS TAX 93,000.00 0.00 85,508.68 8.06
001-00-314.10.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX FPL 248,000.00 0.00 153,222.81 38.22
001-00-314.30.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX WATER 52,500.00 0.00 35,034.84 33.27
001-00-314.40.00 UTILITY SERVICES TAX GAS 0.00 0.00 (36.28) 100.00
001-00-314.40.10 UTILTIY GAS TAX AMERIGAS 7,700.00 0.00 (19,640.54) 355.07
001-00-314.40.20 UTILITY GAS TAX SUBURBAN 1,000.00 0.00 566.42 43.36
001-00-314.40.30 UTILTIY GAS TAX FERRELL 2,800.00 0.00 1,660.12 40.71
001-00-314.40.40 UTILITY GAS TAX SAM'S GAS 0.00 0.00 (80.02) 100.00
001-00-315.00.00 COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE TAX 137,000.00 0.00 102,850.36 24.93
001-00-316.00.00 OCCP. LIC 16,000.00 0.00 2,597.16 83.77
001-00-323.10.00 FRANCHISE FEES FPL 190,000.00 0.00 137,361.98 27.70
001-00-323.70.00 FRANCHISE FEES SOLID WASTE 40,000.00 0.00 21,350.30 46.62
001-00-323.70.10 SOLID WASTE COMMERCIAL 13,500.00 0.00 7,224.75 46.48
001-00-329.20.00 BONFIRE PERMIT 900.00 0.00 900.00 0.00
001-00-329.50.00 LOW SPEED VEHICLE REGISTRATION 0.00 0.00 (400.00) 100.00
001-00-329.50.10 LOW SPEED VEHICLE PERMIT FEE 0.00 0.00 (400.00) 100.00
001-00-334.40.00 FMIT SAFETY GRANT 7,500.00 0.00 7,500.00 0.00
001-00-335.12.00 STATE REVENUE SHARING PROCEEDS 87,000.00 0.00 47,037.43 45.93
001-00-335.15.00 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE LICENSES 4,600.00 0.00 4,600.00 0.00
001-00-335.18.00 HALF CENT SALES TAX LOCAL GOV 192,000.00 0.00 131,791.05 31.36
001-00-342.20.00 SAFETY INSPECT FEE VAC RENTAL 800.00 0.00 885.00 (10.63)
001-00-342.20.10 SAFETY RENEWAL-VAC RENTALS 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00
001-00-345.10.00 VAC RENTAL APP FEE-INITITAL 5,000.00 0.00 4,450.00 11.00
001-00-345.10.10 VAC RENEWAL FEE - RENTALS 2,500.00 0.00 (750.00) 130.00
001-00-361.10.00 INTEREST ON INVESTMENTS 4,000.00 0.00 (4,410.15) 210.25
001-00-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 2,500.00 0.00 1,253.68 49.85

133



001-00-369.00.49 INSURANCE RECOVERY 350.00 0.00 350.00 0.00
73.47

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEMENT
001-21-312.52.00 INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX 45,500.00 0.00 45,500.00 0.00
001-21-337.20.00 SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER 65,000.00 0.00 32,500.00 50.00
001-21-337.25.01 STATE LE COMPUTER GRANT 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
001-21-347.90.01 SPECIAL EVENTS 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00
001-21-351.00.00 FINES - LAW ENFORCEMENT 7,500.00 0.00 4,731.25 36.92
001-21-351.13.00 PARKING TICKETS 600.00 0.00 300.00 50.00
001-21-351.13.10 ACCIDENT REPORT 100.00 0.00 (16.00) 116.00
001-21-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 0.00 0.00 (56.00) 100.00

29.61

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-322.30.00 FIRE PROTECTIVE SERVICES 5,000.00 0.00 3,545.00 29.10
001-22-369.00.00 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-22-369.55.10 SHARED TRAINING 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 0.00

22.38

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEMENT
001-29-359.00.00 OTHER FINES AND FORFEITURES 800.00 0.00 800.00 0.00

0.00

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREATION
001-72-347.41.00 FOUNDER'S DAY 6,000.00 0.00 4,540.00 24.33
001-72-347.50.00 FACILITY RENTALS 8,000.00 0.00 5,525.00 30.94

28.11

134



OVERALL REVENUE RATE: 71.75

Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 11 LEGISLATIVE
001-11-500.11.00 EXECUTIVE SALARIES 16,200.00 0.00 9,450.05 41.67
001-11-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 56,710.00 0.00 35,989.07 36.54
001-11-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 4,338.00 0.00 2,075.57 52.15
001-11-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 6,754.00 0.00 4,288.58 36.50
001-11-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 5,940.00 0.00 2,969.70 50.01
001-11-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 68.00 0.00 34.22 49.68
001-11-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 181.00 0.00 138.17 23.66
001-11-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,902.00 0.00 1,402.00 51.69
001-11-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 3,640.00 0.00 2,595.46 28.70
001-11-510.40.10 TRAVEL & MEETINGS - STAFF 2,788.00 0.00 1,397.34 49.88
001-11-510.47.00 PRINTING 5,015.00 0.00 4,911.36 2.07
001-11-510.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 800.00 0.00 442.83 44.65
001-11-510.48.40 LEGAL NOTICES 10,000.00 0.00 9,396.47 6.04
001-11-510.49.50 ELECTION EXPENSE 2,500.00 0.00 1,909.81 23.61
001-11-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 875.00 0.00 450.00 48.57
001-11-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 4,410.00 0.00 4,410.00 0.00
001-11-510.64.00 MACHINERY & EQUIPMENT 2,000.00 0.00 825.67 58.72
001-11-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 0.00
001-11-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 7,421.00 0.00 1,046.14 85.90

26.74

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 12 EXECUTIVE
001-12-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 143,243.00 0.00 93,748.19 34.55
001-12-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 0.00 0.00 (80.57) 100.00
001-12-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 10,958.00 0.00 6,683.54 39.01
001-12-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 17,060.00 0.00 12,424.35 27.17
001-12-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 4,436.00 0.00 3,138.45 29.25

135



001-12-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 25,561.00 0.00 14,425.73 43.56
001-12-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 749.00 0.00 391.61 47.72
001-12-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 458.00 0.00 358.84 21.65
001-12-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,320.00 0.00 852.33 35.43
001-12-510.52.50 GAS & OIL 2,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 41.67
001-12-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 3,595.00 0.00 2,151.00 40.17
001-12-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 450.00 0.00 450.00 0.00

35.34

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 13 FINANCE
001-13-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 109,053.00 0.00 69,206.68 36.54
001-13-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 8,343.00 0.00 5,037.83 39.62
001-13-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 12,988.00 0.00 8,301.69 36.08
001-13-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 14,824.00 0.00 7,412.08 50.00
001-13-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 136.00 0.00 68.44 49.68
001-13-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 349.00 0.00 264.35 24.26
001-13-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 5,300.00 0.00 5,300.00 0.00
001-13-510.32.00 AUDITING SERVICES 26,600.00 0.00 17,600.00 33.83
001-13-510.32.90 BANKING FEES 6,900.00 0.00 3,888.05 43.65
001-13-510.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,200.00 0.00 214.75 82.10
001-13-510.47.00 PRINTING 180.00 0.00 180.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 60.00 0.00 60.00 0.00
001-13-510.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 800.00 0.00 686.00 14.25
001-13-764.10.00 Filing Fee Clerk-Parking Ticke 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00

36.68

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 14 LEGAL COUNSEL
001-14-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 96,000.00 0.00 56,790.50 40.84
001-14-510.31.01 CODE ENFORCEMENT ATTORNEY 10,000.00 0.00 8,600.00 14.00

38.31

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

136



Department: 15 COMPREHENSIVE PLANNING
001-15-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 20,000.00 0.00 17,281.25 13.59

13.59

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 16 FEMA - HURRICANE DAMAGE
001-16-510.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 (542.20) 100.00
001-16-530.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 (325.55) 100.00
001-16-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 0.00 0.00 (2,376.56) 100.00

100.00

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 19 GENERAL SERVICES
001-19-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 2,618.00 0.00 2,618.00 0.00
001-19-510.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,020.00 0.00 2,453.75 38.96
001-19-510.31.11 SECURITY 3,308.00 0.00 (1,589.50) 148.05
001-19-510.34.10 JANITORIAL SERVICES 17,000.00 0.00 10,705.00 37.03
001-19-510.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXP 300.00 0.00 104.00 65.33
001-19-510.41.00 TELEPHONE 18,240.00 0.00 8,015.50 56.06
001-19-510.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 43,056.00 0.00 24,152.07 43.91
001-19-510.43.00 STREET LIGHTS 47,000.00 0.00 31,014.24 34.01
001-19-510.43.10 ELECTRICITY 38,500.00 0.00 29,379.60 23.69
001-19-510.43.20 WATER & SEWER 3,520.00 0.00 2,359.01 32.98
001-19-510.43.50 WASTE TAX SERVICE 3,300.00 0.00 1,031.09 68.75
001-19-510.45.00 GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 85,728.00 0.00 42,366.50 50.58
001-19-510.45.01 FLOOD INSURANCE 3,751.00 0.00 3,751.00 0.00
001-19-510.45.02 PROPERTY INSURANCE 69,960.00 0.00 37,981.00 45.71
001-19-510.45.03 AUTO INSURANCE 8,172.00 0.00 4,087.50 49.98
001-19-510.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 4,232.00 0.00 2,682.30 36.62
001-19-510.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 25,000.00 0.00 7,290.00 70.84
001-19-510.46.36 PEST CONTROL 3,000.00 0.00 1,797.68 40.08
001-19-510.47.00 PRINTING 500.00 0.00 236.69 52.66
001-19-510.49.90 ADOPT AN AREA 1,500.00 0.00 1,298.84 13.41
001-19-510.49.98 CONTINGENCY 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 0.00

137



001-19-510.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-19-510.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 11,000.00 0.00 6,351.15 42.26
001-19-510.51.10 POSTAGE 1,400.00 0.00 563.80 59.73
001-19-510.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 3,500.00 0.00 1,376.95 60.66
001-19-510.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 325.00 0.00 325.00 0.00
001-19-510.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 39,916.00 0.00 17,558.85 56.01
001-19-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 21,286.00 0.00 14,264.65 32.99
001-19-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 115,000.00 0.00 115,000.00 0.00

34.63

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 21 LAW ENFORCEMENT
001-21-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 627,879.00 0.00 371,271.75 40.87
001-21-500.12.50 HOLIDAY PAY 20,000.00 0.00 1,389.49 93.05
001-21-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 15,000.00 0.00 9,032.95 39.78
001-21-500.14.16 HURRICANE PAY 18,000.00 0.00 5,992.94 66.71
001-21-500.15.00 EDUCATION INCENTIVE PAY 6,800.00 0.00 3,247.50 52.24
001-21-500.15.01 FIRST RESPONDER 8,000.00 0.00 5,625.00 29.69
001-21-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 52,087.00 0.00 29,855.09 42.68
001-21-500.22.02 POLICE PENSION 206,912.00 0.00 151,912.00 26.58
001-21-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 5,217.00 0.00 3,194.08 38.78
001-21-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 210,119.00 0.00 168,533.21 19.79
001-21-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 2,700.00 0.00 1,490.20 44.81
001-21-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-21-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 16,853.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-21-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 2,179.00 0.00 1,532.14 29.69
001-21-520.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 725.00 0.00 215.39 70.29
001-21-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 17,785.00 0.00 (533.55) 103.00
001-21-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 3,324.00 0.00 2,476.18 25.51
001-21-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 5,388.00 0.00 4,340.74 19.44
001-21-520.46.10 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 5,500.00 0.00 3,105.68 43.53
001-21-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 5,500.00 0.00 5,500.00 0.00
001-21-520.46.16 RADAR CALIBRATION 700.00 0.00 600.00 14.29
001-21-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 17,000.00 0.00 3,456.73 79.67

138



001-21-520.48.00 PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
001-21-520.48.50 CRIME PREVENTION 2,100.00 0.00 618.74 70.54
001-21-520.49.99 MISCELLANEOUS 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
001-21-520.51.10 POSTAGE 150.00 0.00 144.60 3.60
001-21-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 7,000.00 0.00 5,248.34 25.02
001-21-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 8,328.00 0.00 6,587.04 20.90
001-21-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 40,000.00 0.00 33,616.73 15.96
001-21-520.52.70 MEDICAL 500.00 0.00 174.57 65.09
001-21-520.52.90 OPERATING SUPPLIES 4,320.00 0.00 1,187.34 72.52
001-21-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 935.00 0.00 100.60 89.24
001-21-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 6,400.00 0.00 5,800.00 9.38
001-21-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 18,400.00 93,436.00 (99,473.80) 132.81
001-21-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 13,837.00 0.00 5,382.43 61.10
001-21-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 13,479.00 0.00 13,479.00 0.00

38.44

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 22 FIRE CONTROL
001-22-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 88,036.00 0.00 54,849.65 37.70
001-22-500.14.50 STIPEND PAYROLL 38,689.00 0.00 36,799.00 4.89
001-22-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 9,695.00 0.00 6,949.71 28.32
001-22-500.22.01 RETIREMENT - ICMA 7,513.00 0.00 4,604.22 38.72
001-22-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 2,973.00 0.00 1,995.42 32.88
001-22-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 25,626.00 0.00 15,058.75 41.24
001-22-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 136.00 0.00 74.07 45.54
001-22-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 207.00 0.00 (415.00) 300.48
001-22-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 16,750.00 0.00 16,750.00 0.00
001-22-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 282.00 0.00 210.98 25.18
001-22-520.34.40 DISPATCHING SERVICES 5,400.00 0.00 4,100.00 24.07
001-22-520.35.00 PRE-EMPLOYMENT EXPENSE 2,060.00 0.00 1,803.00 12.48
001-22-520.36.00 ANNUAL PHYSICALS 4,375.00 0.00 2,575.00 41.14
001-22-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 750.00 0.00 750.00 0.00
001-22-520.41.10 COMMUNICATION SERVICES 1,644.00 0.00 823.38 49.92
001-22-520.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 9,152.00 0.00 4,909.21 46.36

139



001-22-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 26,100.00 0.00 23,467.11 10.09
001-22-520.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 1,000.00 0.00 952.65 4.74
001-22-520.48.55 FIRE PREVENTION 4,600.00 0.00 3,362.50 26.90
001-22-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 400.00 0.00 51.03 87.24
001-22-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 7,135.00 0.00 7,135.00 0.00
001-22-520.52.02 S.C.B.A. 1,975.00 0.00 435.14 77.97
001-22-520.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 2,925.00 0.00 2,455.14 16.06
001-22-520.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 1,000.00 0.00 447.91 55.21
001-22-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 2,000.00 0.00 1,930.86 3.46
001-22-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 6,600.00 0.00 4,918.36 25.48
001-22-520.52.70 MEDICAL 1,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 0.00
001-22-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 435.00 0.00 414.00 4.83
001-22-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 7,525.00 0.00 7,075.00 5.98
001-22-520.54.12 TRAINING MATERIALS 1,960.00 0.00 1,470.00 25.00
001-22-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 82,369.00 30,000.00 52,369.00 0.00
001-22-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 13,304.00 0.00 6,384.10 52.01
001-22-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 15,277.00 0.00 15,277.00 0.00

20.01

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 29 CODE ENFORCEMENT
001-29-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 14,898.00 0.00 11,316.94 24.04
001-29-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 1,140.00 0.00 829.73 27.22
001-29-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 1,774.00 0.00 1,345.04 24.18
001-29-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 21.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-29-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 230.00 0.00 230.00 0.00
001-29-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 48.00 0.00 38.34 20.13
001-29-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 35.00 0.00 35.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
001-29-520.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 125.00 0.00 104.81 16.15
001-29-520.51.10 POSTAGE 350.00 0.00 247.64 29.25
001-29-520.51.20 RECORDING COSTS 120.00 0.00 120.00 0.00
001-29-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00

140



001-29-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-29-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 75.00 0.00 75.00 0.00

23.16

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
001-41-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 207,196.00 0.00 133,082.11 35.77
001-41-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 0.00 0.00 (2,023.59) 100.00
001-41-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 15,850.00 0.00 9,317.59 41.21
001-41-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 24,677.00 0.00 15,591.15 36.82
001-41-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 31,953.00 0.00 18,311.99 42.69
001-41-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 236.00 0.00 73.60 68.81
001-41-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 83.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 2,618.00 0.00 2,618.00 0.00
001-41-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 663.00 0.00 520.12 21.55
001-41-530.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 150.00 0.00 150.00 0.00
001-41-530.43.10 ELECTRICITY 5,000.00 0.00 (64.48) 101.29
001-41-530.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
001-41-530.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 6,500.00 0.00 4,306.07 33.75
001-41-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 5,000.00 0.00 1,228.65 75.43
001-41-530.46.20 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 9,500.00 0.00 4,772.90 49.76
001-41-530.46.30 BUILDING MAINTENANCE 8,500.00 0.00 4,734.98 44.29
001-41-530.46.31 MAINTENANCE OLD TOWN HALL 600.00 0.00 550.00 8.33
001-41-530.46.32 RYCKMAN HOUSE 700.00 0.00 700.00 0.00
001-41-530.46.35 PIER MAINTENANCE 1,500.00 0.00 (2,272.82) 251.52
001-41-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 7,000.00 0.00 3,340.26 52.28
001-41-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,125.00 0.00 1,069.55 65.77
001-41-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 1,000.00 0.00 304.83 69.52
001-41-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 4,750.00 0.00 389.84 91.79
001-41-530.52.25 TOOL RENTALS 3,500.00 0.00 3,147.24 10.08
001-41-530.52.50 GAS & OIL 5,800.00 0.00 4,282.29 26.17
001-41-530.53.10 STREET REPAIR 7,500.00 0.00 1,905.54 74.59
001-41-530.53.20 STREET SIGNS 8,500.00 0.00 2,412.83 71.61
001-41-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 1,500.00 0.00 1,400.20 6.65

141



001-41-530.57.25 WELDING 500.00 0.00 321.54 35.69
001-41-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
001-41-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 16,927.00 0.00 16,927.00 0.00

41.68

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 42 GROUNDS KEEPING
001-42-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 0.00 0.00 (408.53) 100.00
001-42-530.34.91 LANDSCAPING 22,300.00 0.00 21,410.08 3.99
001-42-530.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 1,000.00 0.00 887.53 11.25
001-42-530.46.15 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 2,500.00 0.00 2,421.07 3.16
001-42-530.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 25,910.00 0.00 23,558.08 9.08
001-42-530.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 2,000.00 0.00 (1,975.00) 198.75
001-42-530.52.00 UNIFORMS 3,125.00 0.00 3,031.60 2.99
001-42-530.52.05 PROTECTIVE GEAR 575.00 0.00 575.00 0.00
001-42-530.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 500.00 0.00 240.15 51.97
001-42-530.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
001-42-530.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00 0.00 (10,859.00) 100.00

32.69

Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREATION
001-72-570.48.10 FOUNDER'S DAY 7,000.00 0.00 7,000.00 0.00
001-72-570.48.50 MOVIES IN THE PARK 1,800.00 0.00 870.00 51.67
001-72-570.48.52 FOURTH OF JULY 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
001-72-570.48.53 CHRISTMAS DECORATIONS PARK 3,000.00 0.00 (1,898.02) 163.27
001-72-570.48.60 EASTER EGG HUNT 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00
001-72-570.48.90 RECREATION PROGRAMS 5,000.00 0.00 4,059.06 18.82
001-72-570.63.01 TENNIS COURT EXPEDITURES 500.00 0.00 (185.97) 137.19
001-72-570.63.02 BBALL & VBALL COURTS 500.00 0.00 (175.79) 135.16
001-72-570.63.05 BOCCE COURT EXPENDITURES 500.00 0.00 430.02 14.00
001-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 32,600.00 0.00 525.00 98.39

78.05

142



OVERALL EXPENDITURE RATE: 35.63

Fund: 104 ENVIRONMENTAL ADVISORY BOARD
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 00 
104-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 4,904.00 0.00 4,904.00 0.00
104-00-337.90.01 OTHER GRANTS 568.00 0.00 568.00 0.00
104-00-366.47.00 DONATIONS 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
104-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 5,374.00 0.00 5,374.00 0.00

31.55

Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 72 PARKS & RECREATION
104-72-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
104-72-570.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 0.00 0.00 (44.97) 100.00
104-72-570.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 (65.00) 100.00
104-72-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 960.00 0.00 640.98 33.23
104-72-570.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 0.00 0.00 (81.98) 100.00
104-72-570.52.50 GAS FOR COMPOSTING TRUCK 1,092.00 0.00 511.60 53.15
104-72-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 8,000.00 0.00 6,579.48 17.76

20.84

Fund: 125 BUILDING DEPT
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 24 PROTECTIVE INSPECTIONS
125-24-322.00.00 BUILDING PERMITS 160,000.00 0.00 64,326.38 59.80
125-24-322.10.00 ZONING PLAN REVIEW 1,000.00 0.00 (31.25) 103.13
125-24-322.10.10 SITE PLAN REVIEW P&Z 12,000.00 0.00 9,500.00 20.83
125-24-322.20.00 BUILDING PLAN REVIEW 12,000.00 0.00 11,660.00 2.83
125-24-322.31.00 ADVERTISING COSTS 250.00 0.00 250.00 0.00
125-24-322.31.20 P&Z ADVERTISING 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00

143



125-24-329.00.00 OTHER LICENSES, FEES & PERMITS 700.00 0.00 (5,036.50) 819.50
125-24-329.00.10 BOA VARIANCE FEES 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00
125-24-354.00.00 LOCAL ORDINANCE VIOLATION 8,000.00 0.00 2,062.00 74.23

56.73

Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

125-24-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 141,440.00 0.00 84,402.29 40.33
125-24-500.14.00 SALARIES OVERTIME 0.00 0.00 (820.50) 100.00
125-24-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 10,820.16 0.00 6,411.85 40.74
125-24-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 16,845.50 0.00 9,936.64 41.01
125-24-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 27,083.00 0.00 17,593.76 35.04
125-24-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 136.00 0.00 40.29 70.38
125-24-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 42.00 0.00 42.00 0.00
125-24-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 655.00 0.00 655.00 0.00
125-24-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 452.61 0.00 331.99 26.65
125-24-520.40.00 TRAVEL & MEETINGS 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
125-24-520.51.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES 500.00 0.00 (1,518.76) 403.75
125-24-520.51.10 POSTAGE 75.00 0.00 75.00 0.00
125-24-520.52.00 UNIFORMS 260.00 0.00 19.08 92.66
125-24-520.52.20 TOOLS & HARDWARE 75.00 0.00 75.00 0.00
125-24-520.52.50 GAS & OIL 500.00 0.00 349.69 30.06
125-24-520.54.00 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 4,200.00 0.00 3,140.00 25.24
125-24-520.54.10 TRAINING & SCHOOLS 350.00 0.00 350.00 0.00
125-24-520.64.01 Capital Outlay 16,000.00 0.00 5,359.95 66.50
125-24-543.00.00 LICENSES & FEES 350.00 0.00 237.05 32.27

42.30

Fund: 172 OCEAN PARK PARKING FUND
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 00 
172-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 62,536.22 0.00 62,536.22 0.00

0.00

144



Department: 75 TOWN PARKS
172-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 15,000.00 0.00 12,100.00 19.33
172-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 98,000.00 0.00 72,702.92 25.81

24.95

Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

172-75-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 34,000.00 0.00 22,676.87 33.30
172-75-575.31.02 LIFEGUARD CONTRACT 21,945.00 0.00 21,945.00 0.00
172-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 5,500.00 0.00 4,493.59 18.30
172-75-575.34.10 JANITORIAL CLEANING 1,800.00 0.00 1,050.00 41.67
172-75-575.34.91 LANDSCAPING 3,500.00 0.00 3,371.36 3.68
172-75-575.41.10 IPS COMMUNICATIONS FEE 4,020.00 0.00 2,202.29 45.22
172-75-575.43.10 ELECTRICITY 2,700.00 0.00 1,833.09 32.11
172-75-575.43.20 WATER & SEWER 1,700.00 0.00 1,383.06 18.64
172-75-575.43.50 DUMP SERVICE 660.00 0.00 660.00 0.00
172-75-575.46.12 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 1,500.00 0.00 840.45 43.97
172-75-575.46.31 BUILDING MAINT RESTROOMS 1,200.00 0.00 1,135.16 5.40
172-75-575.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
172-75-575.46.41 MOWING CONTRACT 9,000.00 0.00 8,066.25 10.38
172-75-575.46.43 TREE EXPENSE 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
172-75-575.52.10 JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 350.00 0.00 350.00 0.00
172-75-575.53.15 PARKING LOT REPAIRS 1,500.00 0.00 683.91 54.41
172-75-575.53.20 SIGNS 300.00 0.00 300.00 0.00
172-75-575.63.03 VOLLEYBALL COURT 2,000.00 0.00 844.59 57.77
172-75-575.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 16,000.00 0.00 16,000.00 0.00
172-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 1,400.00 0.00 1,400.00 0.00
172-75-764.10.00 Filing Fee Clerk-Parking Ticke 30.00 0.00 10.00 66.67

17.64

Fund: 175 RYCKMAN CROSSOVER PARKING FUN
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

145



Department: 00 
175-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 97,998.78 0.00 97,998.78 0.00

0.00

Department: 75 TOWN PARKS
175-75-342.10.00 PARKING TICKET REVENUE 9,500.00 0.00 8,600.00 9.47
175-75-344.50.00 PARKING METER REVENUE 60,500.00 0.00 27,574.78 54.42
175-75-344.50.10 PARK PASS REVENUE 3,000.00 0.00 1,600.00 46.67

48.25

Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

175-75-500.12.00 REGULAR SALARIES 320.00 0.00 320.00 0.00
175-75-500.21.00 FICA TAXES - EMPLOYER PORTION 2,625.00 0.00 1,751.49 33.28
175-75-500.22.20 RETIREMENT TOWN EMPLOYEES 4,088.00 0.00 2,690.74 34.18
175-75-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 7,967.00 0.00 3,499.85 56.07
175-75-575.32.90 BANKING FEES 2,000.00 0.00 1,329.05 33.55
175-75-575.32.95 IPS BANKING FEE 4,200.00 0.00 4,200.00 0.00
175-75-575.41.15 IPS COMMUNICATION FEE 2,500.00 0.00 1,897.29 24.11
175-75-575.50.00 RECREATION PROGRAMS 10,500.00 0.00 7,700.00 26.67
175-75-581.00.00 TRANSFER OUT 31,500.00 0.00 31,500.00 0.00

16.46

Fund: 351 BEAUTIFICATION
Account Category: Revenues Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt
Department: 00 
351-00-271.00.99 CARRY FORWARD 45,665.09 0.00 45,665.09 0.00
351-00-381.00.00 TRANSFERS IN 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 0.00

0.00

Account Category: Expenditures Description ORIGINAL BUDGET Encumbrance Available % Bdgt

146



Department: 41 PUBLIC WORKS
351-41-500.23.01 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,755.00 0.00 2,755.00 0.00
351-41-500.23.02 LIFE INSURANCE 68.00 0.00 39.85 41.40
351-41-500.23.10 STATUTORY AD&D 21.00 0.00 0.00 100.00
351-41-500.24.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION 653.00 0.00 653.00 0.00
351-41-500.25.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 110.00 0.00 83.75 0.00
351-41-570.31.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.34.91 LANDSCAPING 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.43.15 ELECTRICAL WORK 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00
351-41-570.46.40 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 2,500.00 0.00 2,108.84 15.65
351-41-570.53.20 STREET SIGNS 1,500.00 0.00 (1,968.83) 231.26
351-41-570.64.01 CAPITAL OUTLAY 0.00 7,597.00 (7,597.00) 0.00

7.08

147



FEBRUARY 2023 ACTION ITEMS 

 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Research the term multi-

generational in terms of building 

code and its use in other 

municipalities, aka “Granny 

Suites.” 

1/17/2022 CLOSED 2/15/2023 Commission  Town Manager 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

1/18/2023 Town Attorney Clifford Repperger – First reading will be in February 

10/19/2022 Town Manager – The Town Attorney is working on the language 

8/17/2022 Town Manager – The proposed language needs to go to Planning and Zoning Board then will come back to 

the Commission. 

6/15/2022 Add to old business next month for the proposed language, then to PNZ, then back to the Commission 

5/18/2022 Town Manager – Came from PNZ to define kitchen.  Our code prohibits two kitchens. 

Mayor Hoover requested an agenda item next month to review what in our code would prohibit this 

4/20/2022 Provide definition of multi-generational, how County manages Granny Suites and what other towns and 

cities are doing to accommodate the return of multi-generational living. 

2/16/2022 Town Attorney and Town Manager will discuss “granny suites” and bring their findings to the next RTCM.  

1/17/2022 The Town Commission directed the Town Manager to research the use of the term multi-generational in 

relation to “granny suites.” 

7/21/2021 Update at August RTCM 

6/16/2021 PWD will ask FDOT if subcontractor (who is restriping cross walks) can also paint stanchions 

5/19/2021 PWD update at June RTCM 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

DAR Sign Placement 2/15/2023 3/15/2023    

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

148



FEBRUARY 2023 ACTION ITEMS 

 

2/15/2023 Added to Action Items – Placement of a DAR sign 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Change the order of the agenda 

for Town Commission meetings 

2/15/2023 3/15/2023  Wyatt Hoover Town Clerk 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

2/15/2023 Added to Action Items – Town Clerk will bring proposed changes to the order of the agenda 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTER ASSIGNED TO 

Town Newsletter 1/18/2023 3/15/2023  Corey Runte  

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

2/15/2023 Get 3 quotes for publishing and mailing every other month on 11x17 in color 

1/18/2023 Added to Action Items – Get costs for a single page or bifold, potential content, schedule, and production 

options  

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Sixth Ave boat ramp 

improvements 

8/17/2022 3/15/2023  Commissioner 

Runte  

Town Manager/ PW Director 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

2/15/2023 Tom Davis- met with Bowman Engineering at Sixth Ave boat ramp to get them to draw something up 

1/18/2023 Tom Davis – installed the geogrid and painted the wall, considering installing a kayak rack 

Commissioner Corey Runte – come up with future vision plans and get concept drawings/proposals to 

beautify it and address parking 

11/16/2022 Joyce Barton – Spoke about possible grant options 

Corey Runte – Research funding options 

Mayor Hoover – Start with fixing the seawall 

9/21/2022 Discussed under new business agenda item D. 

8/17/2022 Research what the exact issue is with parking that prevents the Town from getting grant money  

149



FEBRUARY 2023 ACTION ITEMS 

 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Investigate options to isolate 

access to the dunes 

11/16/2022 3/15/2023  Mayor Hoover Town Manager and Tom Davis 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

2/15/2023 Tom Davis – A resident contacted DEP and due to turtles the wood fencing had to be removed, so colored 

rope is being installed instead 

1/18/2023 Tom Davis – Installing wood snow fence 

11/16/2022 Added to Action Items 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE  CLOSED REQUESTER ASSIGNED TO 

S.E.A. PROJECT 2/17/2021 3/15/2023  Mayor Hoover Town Manager 

Date Directions/Notes 

1/18/2023 Town Manager – Waiting on the concept drawings from Bowman.  

11/16/2022 TM – Next step is the concept drawings and sidewalks 

Corey Runte – Get a quote from the Town’s secondary civil engineering company 

9/21/2022 Waiting to hear back from BSE 

7/20/2022 TM – The workshop is scheduled for August 24th at 6:30 pm. 

6/15/2022 Town Manager – Spoke with Neal, 2 proposed dates in August, bring final date next month 

5/18/2022 Town Manager – additional parking spots are done, planting in Bicentennial Park was done, new poles along 

Ocean Ave are in the works.  The next big-ticket item is underground retention for stormwater 

Mayor Hoover – FDOT will be doing their portion of A1A fiscal year 2026. 

Schedule a public workshop in July. 

04/20/2022 Town will have a tent during Founders Day to discuss the S.E.A. Vision and get feedback from the residents.  

Waiting on estimates for new Town signs from Fast Signs.  Flowers planted at the very north end of Bi-

Centennial.  Flowers also planted around Ryckman House.  Established 4 more spaces for golf cart parking.   

2/16/2022 Town Manager Mascaro has met with the resident volunteer and they are currently working on the plan – 

she will provide another update again in March. Mayor Hoover suggested researching FDOT funding for 

Bicentennial Park and making it an entrance to the Town with a more impressive sign.  

1/17/2022 Vision statement was approved. An update will be given at February RTCM. 

12/15/2021 Update at January RTCM with Dix Height information.  

150



FEBRUARY 2023 ACTION ITEMS 

 

10/20/2021 Discussed during meeting in depth. Update at Nov. RTCM 

9/15/21 Currently working on RFP for gardening services and will present it at next RTCM as an agenda item. TM has 

not been able to make contact with Susan Hall  

8/18/2021 Added landscaping of Parks to Action item – and discussed RFP for landscaping services  
 

7/21/2021 Check in with Susan (include VM Barton) and update at August RTCM 
 

6/16/2021 Commission will no longer pursue FDOT grant but will continue research of other funding and grants. 
 

4/21/2021 Commission approved increasing payment. Grant will be awarded in June. Update July RTCM 
 

3/17/2021 VM Barton researched FDOT landscape grant. Commission approved $5,000 to begin landscape design 

process with an architectural designer. Discuss at April TCW and April RTCM. 

2/17/2021 Explore grants, etc. Discuss at TCW on March 3, 2021 

 

12/2/2020 

Mayor Hoover suggested they do the necessary research and reach out to landlords and business owners, 

starting with the area east of the traffic light on both sides of the road north and south – and then meet 

again to discuss in February. Plan for workshops with business owners and PNZ involvement 

 

12/16/2020 

Commissioner Walters requested the Town research a better microphone system, including the option of 

wireless microphones. He feels the sound quality of the current microphones is very poor. Dual timers were 

also requested by the Commission (we have one and need one more). 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTER ASSIGNED TO 

Options and costs for live 

streaming 

9/21/2022 3/15/2023  Joyce Barton Town Clerk 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

1/18/2023 Town Clerk – Contacted several companies who advised not interested, cannot get the products, or didn’t 

respond.  Will start contacting individuals that use audio visual equipment rather than companies. 

11/16/2022 Town Clerk - contacted other municipalities to see how they stream and what they use and also reaching 

out to private companies.  This item ties into the upgrades to the audio system that was approved, but not 

done yet to make sure the systems are compatible. 

9/21/2022 Added to Action Items  

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

151



FEBRUARY 2023 ACTION ITEMS 

 

Research Charging Stations 11/20/20 3/15/2023  Simmons Town Manager/PWD 

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

11/16/2022 Town Manager – Received feedback that without a fast charger, a car would have to be there all day 

10/19/2022 Town Manager – Got other quotes which has raised additional questions 

8/17/2022 Town Manager – having a very hard time getting companies to come out 

6/15/2022 Town Manager met with James Moore (NOT associated with the auditors) who has a company that installs 

charging stations he recommended putting a charging station in a pay-to-park spot.  

Vice Mayor stated James Moore’s company installed a station Grace Lutheran 

12/15/2021 TM said new charging companies are coming out and installing their own stations with incentives and it may 

be a good idea to wait and see what they are. Rapid charge is 3-4 times the cost. 

10/20/2021 Commissioner Runte reached out to two vendors he works with update Nov. 2021 

9/15/2021 TM does not have an update. Commissioner Runte explained the companies are hard to reach or non-

responsive- still working on it. Update next month 

8/18/2021 Update at September RTCM 

7/21/2021 Update at August RTCM 

6/16/2021 Follow up on “Electrify” a company that leases charging stations 

5/19/2021 Update at June RTCM 

4/21/2021 Town Manager was given a list by Commissioner Runte to evaluate and update again at May RTCM. 

1/20/2021 Update again at April RTCM 

12/16/2020 Town Manager Mascaro said there is a lot to understand about these charging stations that effect cost and 

what’s included. Update again at January 2021 RTCM. 

11/18/2020 Commission advised to keep this item open until the stations are installed 

10/21/2020 Commission approved cost to replace breaker box and TM to get vendor contacts from Comm. Runte 

8/19/2020 PWS said breaker box must be replaced at cost of $3,000-$4,000.Commission asked TM to find 

install/generic cost for Sept RTCM. 

 

7/15/2020 

TM shared that the offer from Tesla no longer available, they cost $500. TM is looking at other options and 

will come back in August with information. Commission asked TM to look for similar offers and/or grants as 

Tesla was offering. 

6/17/2020 Electricians scheduled Wed. Parking spot for bikes and two for charging stations. Update July RTCM 

3/18/2020 Commission suggested TM get with Tesla to see what they may offer - including getting one at no cost. Tobe 

discussed again at May TCW. 

152



FEBRUARY 2023 ACTION ITEMS 

 

6/3/2020 Commission asked TM to contact Tesla to see what they have to offer. Update June RTCM. 

ITEM OPENED DUE DATE CLOSED REQUESTOR ASSIGNED TO 

Lifeguard cover 3/15/2023 4/19/2023  Wyatt Hoover  

DATE DIRECTION/NOTES 

3/15/2023 Added to Action Items – Fact finding related to funding from other municipalities, open a dialogue with 

Indialantic, reach out to US Lifesaving Association and Florida Beach Patrol to see what other heavy-traffic 

beaches are doing, make sure flag signs are up to date, options and costs to get a lifeguard at our beach 

year round. 

 

 

153



 

1. Call to Order – Led by Mayor Hoover 
 

2. Roll Call  
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 

4. Approval of the Agenda 
 

5. Consent Agenda 
 

6. Proclamations and Awards 
 

7. Presentations by Special Guests 
 

8. Staff Reports 
 

9. Action Items 
 

10. Public Hearing 
 

11. Old Business 
 

12. New Business 
 
13. Town Commission Comments  

 
14. Public Comments  

 
15. Adjournment 

154


	Agenda Packet Cover Page.pdf (p.1)
	Table of Contents.pdf (p.2)
	230315 RTCM Agenda.pdf (p.3-5)
	230215 RTCM Minutes.pdf (p.6-18)
	Site plan 1 - 401 Atlantic St.pdf (p.19-33)
	Site plan 2 - 214 Surf Rd.pdf (p.34-41)
	Site plan 3 - 210 Second Ave.pdf (p.42-51)
	Site plan 4 - 320 Avenue A.pdf (p.52-61)
	Tree 1 Agenda Memo Town Commission Second Reading 2023-01 (Landscaping and Trees) 3-15-2023.pdf (p.62-64)
	Tree 2 Draft Landscaping and Tree Ordinance 2023-01 (Second Reading Town Commission) 3-15-2023.pdf (p.65-74)
	Tree 3 Density 2023_03_09.pdf (p.75-76)
	Second Kitchen 1 Agenda Memo Town Commission Second Reading 2023-02 (Second Kitchens) 3-15-2023.pdf (p.77-78)
	Second Kitchen 2 Draft Second Kitchens Ordinance 2023-02 (For Second Reading Town Commission) 3-15-2023.pdf (p.79-83)
	Second Kitchen 3 Corey OGorman.pdf (p.84)
	Proclamanation - Human Trafficking.pdf (p.85)
	Proclamanation - Water Conservation.pdf (p.86)
	Special Event 1.pdf (p.87)
	Special Event 2.pdf (p.88)
	Clean Up 1 Station.pdf (p.89)
	Clean Up 2 Station picture.pdf (p.90)
	Comp Ex 1 Computer Experts.pdf (p.91)
	Comp Ex 2 Computer Experts 2023 Contract.pdf (p.92-103)
	Comp Ex 3 Computer Experts 2018 Cost.pdf (p.104-106)
	Lien 1 Agenda Memo Town Commission Request for Reduction of Fine Amount CEB 2019-CE-054.pdf (p.107)
	Lien 2 Order on CEB 2019-CE-054.pdf (p.108-109)
	Lien 3 Triana Request for Reduction or Waiver of Fine.pdf (p.110-114)
	Jorge Triana - REDUCTION OF WAIVER FOR OCEAN PINE VILLAS
	Reduction Worksheet
	Ocean Pine Villas sunbiz
	Affidavit of Manual Triana

	Town Manager Memo March.pdf (p.115)
	Building 1 2023_02 Building Department Report.pdf (p.116)
	Building 2 2023_02 Permit.pdf (p.117-118)
	Building 3 2023_02 Inspection Totals (1).pdf (p.119-120)
	PW activities.pdf (p.121-122)
	PD 1 February 2023.pdf (p.123)
	PD 2 Monthly Totals February 2023.pdf (p.124-126)
	2023

	PD 3 Hinchman.pdf (p.127)
	PD 4 Sadler.pdf (p.128)
	Finance 1 February FY23 Finance Memo.pdf (p.129)
	Finance 2 FEB FY2023 REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE.pdf (p.130-144)
	REVENUEANDEXPENDITURE

	Z Action Items.pdf (p.145-150)
	Sample RTCM Agenda New Order.pdf (p.151)

